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HLE:MARKA AUDIT
.
INDEPENDENT AUDITQR'S REPORT
BY IILE MARKA AUDIT LLC
ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CAREC CORRIDORS 1 AND 3 CONNECTOR ROAD PROJECT
LOAN NO.3432-KGZ(SFYGRANT NO.04%6-KGZ(SF)

AND CAREC CORRIDORS 1 AND 3 CONNECTOR ROAD PROJECT, PHASE 2-
ADDITIONAL FINANCING LOAN NOJIT3-KGZ(COLYLOAN NO.WO621-KGZ(SF)

Asian Development Bank
Ministry of Transport and Commumications of ibe Kyrgyz Republie
Onpinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the CAREC Corridors | and 3
Connector Read Project and CARDC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional
Financing (hereinafter referred (o as the "Projects"), implomented by the Ministry of Transpori and
Communicalions of the Kyrgyz Republic with the Investment Projects Implementation Group of the Asian
Development Bank (together the "Organization™) and financed by the Asian Development Bank
{hereinaftor reforred o as the "ADB") under the Financing Agresment Loan No.3432 KGZ(SF)YGrant No.
0496 KGA(SF) dated December 2, 2016 (hereinafter referred 1o as the "Financing Agreement™), Loan
Agreement Loan No3730 KGZ (58F) dated December 28, 2018 (hereinafter referred to as the "Loan
Agrecinenlsy, Grant Agresment No 0621 KGZ (5F) dated December 28, 2018 (the "Grant Agresment™),
ait co-financed by the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic (the "GKR"), which includes the consoliduted
Statement ¢l Financial osition as at 31 Decomber 2019, consolidated Statemenl of Sources and Uses of
TFunds, the Statement of Cash Flows under the special Grant account Ne. 0496 KGZ(SF) and the Stalement
of Cash Flows under the additional special Grant account No. 0496 KGZ (SF) for the year then ended, a
suminary of siymificant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In vur opinion:

— The consolidated [nancial statements, including the related notes, for the year cnded 31 December
2019 present fairly, in all malerisl respects, in accordance with the International Public Seclor
Accounting Siandard: Financial Reporting under the Cash Basis of Accounting, reguirements of the
ADB and the reievant articles of the Agreements {Finaneing, Loan and Grant);

— The Organization, in all material respects, used all the funds provided o the Projects in accordance
with the conditions of the Agreements, with due attention o the economy and efficiency, and only
for the purposes for which the funds were provided;

— The GKR g¢o-financing funds were submiticd and used in accordance with the (erms of the
Apreements and only for the purposes for which the finaneing was submitted;

= The goods and serviees for the implementation of the Prajeels were purchased and provided in
accordanec with Lhe reqeirements of the Agreements (Financing, 1Loan and Grant), including specific
norms of the procurement guidelines of the Asian Developmeni Bank;

- As {or the Statements of Expenditure (SOE), adequatc supporting documentation has been
maintained 1o support claims to the Asian Development Bank for reimbursement of expenditures
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—  The cash balances of the special account and the additional special account as ar 31 December 2019
and their movements for Lhe year then ended, as well as the supporting documents and information
provided with them, can be truly relied upon to support applications for replenishment in
accardance with the requirements described in the Agreements (Financing, Loan and Grant).

Basix for vpinion

We conducted our audit in aceordance with the International Standards on Auwditing (ISA). Our
responsibilities under these standards are further deseribed in the “Awuditor’s responsibilities for audit of
finanial statements " section of this report. We are independent of the Organization in aceordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Aceountants' Code of Ethics [or Professional Accountanis (THSBA
Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the
Kyrevz Republic, and we have fulfilled cur other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate (o provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter — accounting methodology and restriclions on use

We draw your attention to Note 2 0 the consolidated financial statements, which describes the accounting
method. The consolidatcd financial statements of the Projects are prepared in order to help the management
ol the Organization meet the requircments of the ADB and the GKR, as a result, the consolidated financial
statements of the Projects cannot be used for any ather purpose.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the Projects' consolidated
[firancial stuterments

Munagement of the Organization is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
comsolidated finzncia) statements in accordance with the conditions of the Agresments, the guidelines of
ihe Asian Development Bank and the International Public Scetor Accounting Standard: Financial Reporting
under the Cash Basis of Aceounting, deseribed in Note 2, and for maintaining internal cuntrol system which
the manageenent consider relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of [nancial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due o [raud or error.

'Those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements of the Projects are responsible [or
overseeing the preparation of the Projects’ consolidated financial statemenls.

While preparing these consolidated financial stalements, the management of the Projects 1s responsibie for
assesstnent of the Projects capability to continue its activitics, or disclosures of information in relevant
cases, related 1o the on-going activities, except for the cases when the management intcnds to close the
Projects, to terminate its activilics or when the Projects do not have any other alternatives but to do so.

Auifitor's responsibilities for the awdit of Profects' consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial stalcments as a
whole are [ree [rom material misstatement, whether due to Faud or error, and to issve an auditor’s report
that includes our opinior. Reasonahle assurance is a high leve! of assurance, but is not a guarantes that an
audit condueted in accordance with the International Standurds of Auditing will always detect a malerial

misstatement when 11 cxists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error, and are considered malterial if, individually or in the aggregalc,
they could reasonably be expecied to intluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

financial statemenis.

As part of an audit in accordance with the International Standards of Anditing, we oxercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticisn throughout the audit. We also:

—  identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of consolidated linancial statements, whether

due to fraud or creors, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain
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audit evidence that is sufficicnt and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
deteciing a nraterial misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulling mom emors,
as fraud may invelve collusion, forgery, inlentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of intornal conirof;

— obtain an understanding of mtemal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
thal are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Projects internal control;

— evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
cstimatcs and relined disclosures made by management;

— conclede on the appropriateness of the management's use of the going concem assumplion and,
based on the andit evidence obtained, whether there is a material uncertainty related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Projects 1o comlinue a5 a going
concern. If we conclude that there is a material uncertainty, we must draw attention in owr auditor's
report to the relevant disclosures in the consolidated tinancial statements or, if such disclosures ure
inappropriate, modify cur epinion. Our canclusions are based on audit evidence obtained prior to
the date of our andit opinion, However, future events or conditions may cause the Projects to losc
their ability 1o continue operating continuousiy, Az indicated in Nole 1, the Project completion date
is 31 July 2021, in aceordance with the Financing Agreement for the CAREC Corridors | and 3
Conncelor Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ(SFYGrant No.0496-KGZ(SF),

— evaluate the overall presentalion, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosores, and whether the ¢omsolidated Anancial statements represent the
underlying runsactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;

— abtain findings and olher relevant auditor’s evidences reparding financial information of the
Projects or besiness activitics inside of the Organization to express our opinion regarding the
consalidatled linancial statements.

We are responsible for direction, supervision and fulfillment of an andit. We arc solely responsible for our
audilor's report.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
conirol that we identify during our andit.
HLE MMarka Aodit T.I.C
License #0146 of November 13, 2018, isaued by the Siaie
Comeuizsion on Regulaiion and Supervision of Financial Market
under the Covermmernd of the Kpvgyr Republic
Regieration certificare #4850-3301-000 with e Ministy of
Sustive of the Kyrove Republic dared 11 Qotober 2015,
I8 Professor Zima Street, Bishiek, Kyrgys Republic
Tefephonedfinc: (312) 3205 75

AM. Asyl ﬂv'i'l', Director, Auditor
Cheediffed duditor Cartificaie Series AT 20012,
reg #4ET of Aupnst 07, 2009

-~ . b / : P
Of 20k R -
L.G. Zalunina, Au ftgf-', Audit Team Leader
Chaalifted Suditor CeMificaté Mo 00222 of 37, 120117
LR (Russfon) - Certificate No 3764245 of 0812 20110
CAP Certificate No. 0007812 of 1312 2007

28 June 2021



Projects:

CARE( Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Loun No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ{5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phasc 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ{COL)Loan No,0621-KGZ{5F)

MANAGEMENT'S STATEMENT ON RESPONSIBILITY
FOR PREPARATION AND APPROVAL OF PROJECTS' CONSOLIDATED F INANCIAL
STATEMENTS

‘The statement below, which should be considered together with the description of responsibilities of
independent auditors, accompenied the report of independent audifors, is made with the purpose to
distinguish the responsibilities of auditors and the management of the Ministry of Tramsport and
Communications of the Kyrgyz Republic (hereinafter the *MTC KR*) aleng the Investment Projects
Implementation Group (hereafter both the “Qrganization”) in respect of the consolidated financial
statements of the CARFEC Corridors 1 and 3 Conneetor Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ(SFyGrant
No.0496-KGZ(SF} and CAREC Corriders 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)YLoan No.0621-KGZ(SF) (hereinafter the ‘Project’). The management of the
Organlization is responsible for preparation of the Projects’ consolidated financial statements, as financed
by the Asian Development Bank: Financing Agreement Loan No, 3432-KGZ(SF) Grant No. 0496-
KGZ(SF) dated December 2, 2016 (the "Financing Agreement”), Loan Agreement No. 3730 KGZ{COL)
dated Decernber 28, 201§ (the "Loan Agresment'), Grant Agreement No. 0621 KGZ(SF) dated December
28, 2018 (the "Grant Agresment™) that fairly reflects, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position as at 31 December 2019, sources and uses of the Projocts funds and cash flows within the special
Grant account 0496 KGZ(SF) and its additional special account for the reporting period in accordance with
the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS-cash method), the requirsments of the Asian
Development Bank and the relevant articles of the Agreements (Financing, Loan and Grant).

When preparing the Projects’ consolidated financial statements, the management of the Organization is
responsible for:
selecting appropriale accounting principles and using those consistently,
- application of reascnable estimations and calculations;
- compliance with the Asian Development Bank’s requirements and disclosure of all material
discrepancies from the specified standards in comments to the financial statemnents.

The management of the Organization is also responsible for:

- development, implementation and provision of effective and gafe internal control system in the
Projects;

- maintenance of accounting system that permits to provide information on financial status of the
Projects with a specified degree of accuracy at any given time and assure financial statements
compliance with requirements of the Aslan Development Bank,
taking measures for ensuring the Projects assets integrity within the terms of its reforence;

- detection and prevention of fraud and other misuses.

These consolidated financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2019 were approved by the
management of the Organization on 28 June 2021.

For and on behalf of the management of the Organization:

S

N.B. Kaiynbacy
Deputy Minister of Transport and Communications of the Kyrgyz Republic

25 June 2021



Projects:
CARFEC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project
Loan No,3432-KGZ{SF)/Grant Nu.0496-KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing

Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As of 31 December 2019
{Amounts in tables below are presented in USD)

31 December 31 December
L Note 2019 2018
ASSETS
Cash 4 313,903 37,033
Project expenses 7 11,003,515 7282672
Exchange rate differcnce 4 5,579 3,813
_TOTAL ASSETS - 11,322,999 7.323.518
LIABILITTES
ADB financing Loan No.3432 -KGZ(SF) 5 4,612,111 3,545,335
ADB financing Grant No.0496 -KGZ({5F} 5 5,047,231 2,558,139
GKR co-financing 5 1,648,067 1,206,017
Other receipts i 15,500 14,027
_TOTAL LIABILITIES N - 11,322,999 7323518

——
“N.B. Kaiynbaev
Deputy Minister of MTC KR

Noics on pages 11-29 are an integral part of this report

—

Wy

S.K. Ibraimoy
Director of ADE 1PIG



Projects:
CAREC Corridors | und 3 Connector Road Project
Loan No.3432-KGZ{SFyGrant No.0496-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corvidors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Finuncing
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan Na.0621-KGZ(SF)

Consolidated Siatement of Sources and Uses of Funds

For the year ended December 2019
(Amounts in tables below arc presented in USD)

From the From the
bzginniog of heginning of
the Projects the Projects
to 31 Lo 31
December December
Nute U b 1019 018 2018
Qpcning balance, including: 4 37,033 - 36,207 -
ADE Gront No. 496 - KX 23,071 - 28,041 -
Other fumds 13,562 - 8.166 -
Financing sonrces:
ADB Loan Mo, 3432 -KGZ 1,066,776 4,612,111  3,545335  3,545333
ADE Gromt Mo, (495 -KGZ 2,480,092 5047231 2059823 2,558,135
KR 442,050 1,648,067 1,186,057 1206017
Total financing: 3 3997918 11,307,409 6,791,215 7,309,451
_Nel other receipts: 6 1,563 15,590 5797 14,027
Toial receipts: B 3,999,481 11,322,999 $,833.21%  T,313518
Projects’ expenses: 7
1 Works
ADB Loan Ne. 3432 -KGZ (1.041,311) (4,586,646 (3,545,335) (3,545.335)
ADE Gromt Mo, (1496 -KGZ (430,887 (1,897.922) (1,467.033) (1.467.035)
GRR (2234353 (1,323,408) (1,099,973 (1.099,973)
(1,695,633)  (7.807,976) (6,112.343) ( 6,112,343)
2 Consalting scrvices
ADE Grunt No. (1496 -KGZ (1,429,238 (1,712,462) (269363) (283,224)
GRR {166,618) £190,235) (22,077) (23.617)
(1,595.856)  (1,902,697)  (291,440)  (300,841)
3 Advance for the preparation of the
design and estimate documentation
AN Crant No, (496 -KG2 (267,786} (941 718)  (235,085)  (673.932)
GKR (50.231) (128,845}  (60.191)  (78,014)
(31%,017)  (L,070,363)  (315,276) (752,546)
4  Project management
ADEB Grant No. (496 -KGZ (85,872) f196.414) (73311 (110,942}
(B5.872) (196.814)  (73,311)  (110.542)
5 Interest expenses
A Lown No. 3432 -KGZ {23,465) {25,465) - .
B {25,465) (25,465} - -
Projects’ fotal expenses: (3,720,843) (11,003,515) (6,792,370) (7,282,672)
ADE Foan No, 3432 -KGZ (1,066,776} (4,612,111) (3,545,335} (3,545.135)
ADE Grant No. (496 -KG2 (2,213,783} (4,748,916) (2,064,794) (2,535,133)
KR (440,284)  (1,642,488) (1,182,241) (1,202,204}
Luoss from the exchange rute difference 4  (L,766) (5,579) (3,%16) {3,813
Closing cash bulanee, including: 4 313,905 313,905 37,033 37033
ADR CGrani No. 1496 -KGZ 208,380 298 380 23,071 23,071
Cither funds 13,525 15,525 13,962 13,962
M 5l J,:-'f',/ // -'{.3“///
—N.R. Kaivobuev 5.K. Thraimov
Deputy Minister ol MTC KR Diivector of ADB IPTG
g

Notes on pages 11-29 are an integral part of this report



Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SFYGrant No.0496-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Statement of Cash Flows on Special Account of Grant No.04%6 KGZ({SF)
For the vear ended 31 December 2019
{Amounts in the tables below are presented in USD)

Bauk Account # 1180000092422310
Bank JSC *Demir Kyrgyz International Bank”
Location Bishkek
Financing Agreement ADRB Grant No. 0496-KGZ
Currency S dollars
Opening balance as of 1 January 2019 23,0
Initial advaneg 93,000
Plus: Replenishment of the account during the period: : 224,372
from January 1 to December 31, 2019 224,372
Minus: Amount of the eligible expenses paid cut during the
period: (209,937)
from January 1 to December 31, 2019 {200,937}
Closing balance as of 31 December 2013 127,506
Spectal account balance 127.506
o / /.-"'_‘"x
- A 'y i Jlf
— N.E. Kaiynbaev 8K, Ibraimov
Deputy Minister of MTC KR Director of ADR TPIG

Notes on pages 11-29 are an imicgral part of this report 9



Projects:

CAREC Corridurs 1 and 3 Conncctor Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ{5F)

CAREC Corriders 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2-Additional Financing
Loan No3730-KGZ{COLYLoan No.0621-KGZ{5F)

Siatement of Cash Flows on Additional Special Account of Grant Mo Y6 KGZ(SF)
For the year ended 31 December 2019
( Amounts in tables below are presented in USID)

Bank Account # 1180000113799192

Bank 18C “Diemir Kyrgyz [nternational Bank™
Location Bishkek

Financing Apreement ADB Grant No. 0496-KGZ

Currency L)S dollars

()pcning balance as of 1 January 2019 )

Initjal advance

Plus: Replenishment of the account during the period: -
from January 1 to Deccinber 31, 2019 -

Minus: Amount of the cligible expenses paid out during the

period: - ) _ -
from January | to Deccmber 31, 2019 -

Closing halance as of 31 December 2019 170,874

Special agcount balance 170,874

rd
e Wy
N.R. Kaiynbaev ST lbraimovy

Deputy Minister Director of ADB IPIG

Notes un pages 11-29 are an imtegral part of this report 10



Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conncctor Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan Ni,3730-KGZ(COLYLoan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019
{Amounts in tables below are presented in USD)

1. Projeets’ background
(&) Projects’ objective and financing

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ(5F) and
CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connecter Road Project, Phasce 2- Additional Financing Loan No3730-
KGZ({COL)Loan No.0621-KGZ{(SF) (the “Projects™) are implemenied the following way:

_  CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Praject in accordance with the F inancing Agreement
(Special operations) Loan e 3432-KGZ(SFYGrant Ne 0496-KGZ(SF) signed between the
Government of the Kyrgyz Republic {Government of the Kyrgyz Republic) and the Asian Bank
Development Bank (ADB} dated December 2, 3016 (hereinafier the “Financing Agreement”). The
Agreement was ratified by the Law of the Kyrgyz Republic No. 71 of April 29, 2017;

— CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing as per the
Agreements;

o Financing (Special operations) Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No. 0496, signed between the
Government of the Kyrpyz Republic (*GKR’) and the Asian Development Bank (*ADB’} on
2 December 2016, which became effective on 29 April 2017 by the Law No, 87 of the Kyrgyz
Republic;

Grant (Special terms) No.Ne0621-KGZ{SF) signed berween the Government of the Kyrgyz
Republic and ADB on December 2%, 2018 {hereinatter the “Grant Agreement”). The Grant
Agreement was ratified by the Law of the Kyrgyz Repubiic No. 87 dated July 18, 2019.

]

The objective of the Projects is to improve the efficiency and safety of movement of goods and people
along the Project Road.

In the course of its work, the Projects will achieve the following resulls:

Outcome 1, Rehabilitation of a section of road approximately 70 km long, from Epkin viilage to
Bashkugandy village (referred to as Section 2B of the connecting road), including special measures to
ensure road safety and adaptation to climate change.

Outcome 2. Strengthening instirutional capacity by providing consultancy services for detailed design,
construction suporvision, Project management, audit of Project financial staternents, support for safeguards,
preparation and implementation of a road asset management system, and review of a pilot performance-
based road maintenance contract (pilot contract).

Outcome 3. Rehabilitation of two road sections from the town of Balykchy to the kilometer column 43 (43
km) (referred to as Section | of the connecting road) and from Kochkor village to the village of Epkin (25
km) (referred 1o as Section 2A of the comnecting road) with a total length of 68 km (together with Phasa 2),
followed by performance-oriented road maintenance. Providing support to the MTC KR in carrying out the
reform of the road sector, road safety measures and the Road Asset Management System (heveinafter

referred to as the “RAMS™).

The Projects' budget totals to USD 202.99 min, including:

11



Projecis:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No,0496¢-KGZ({5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conuector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
{Amounts in tables below are presented in TSD)

e ——————————— e —— e ——

Actually allocated

Total financing from the beginning 3l:ra1lahle
: alance
RO  ofProject =
- SDR In mln TUSD %o In mln TUSD In mln USD
Asian Development Bank 41,805,000 17169 84% i, 04 165,05
Grant No.0456-KGZ(SE)* 3540 17% 2.50 32.90
Loan Wa.3432-KGZ(SFy*+ 41,905,000 57.69  29% 31.55 54,14
Grant No.0621-KGZ{5F) 9.50 5% - 9.50
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL) 68.50 34% - 638.50
Government of the Kyrgyz
Republic _ o 39 6% 121 30.6%
Total 41,905,000 202,99 100% 7.25 195,74

34t the time of the conciusion of the Financing Agreement, the amount of funds aflocated for financing
ADE amounted to USD 36.72 million, imcluding the category "Advance for the preparation of desigh
estimates” (hereinafier PDA) including the costs of the PDA profect "Advance for the preparation of design
estimates jor the subsequent project of the road connecting the CAREC corridars 1 and 3" Gramt No. 6002
(hereinafter PDA 6002-KGZ) in the amount of USD 3 million. In comnection with the notification of the
ADE duted July 26, 2017 on the closure of the PDA Gramt No. 6002 an July 18, 2047 with expenses incurved
in the amount of USD 1,3122,539.57. the amount for the PDA category Grant No. 0496-KGZ (SF) was
changed. Accordingly, the umused amaunt of Grant No. 6002 under the PDA category af the time of the
Project implementation was 1,667,460.43 US doflars, which led to a decrease in the amount of financing
from the ADB wnder the Financing Agreement {Special operationsj af Loan No. 3432-KGZ {SE)/ Grant No.
0496-KGZ (SF} signed berween the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic (GKR) and the Asian Development
Benk (4 DB} dated December 2, 2016 to the amount of 35,397.460,43 US dollars.

+4The amount of the Loon Budget in SDR was converted into US doliars at the fixed exchenge rate of ADB
1.37658 USD per 1 SDR as of the December 31, 2019 statement,

(b} Caregories and shares of fingncing provided by ADB and GER

As provided in the Agreements {Financing, Loan and Grant) , the following categories of eligible expenses
may be covered from the funds of!

12
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ{5F)/Grant No.H96-—KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Rond Project, Phase 2- Additiopal Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 Decembor 2019
{Amounts in tables below are presented in USD)

{o) Executive of the Projects

The cxecutive agency of the Projects respunsible for timely and cificient performance of works on ihe
Projects, as a wholg, is lhe Minisiry of Transport and Communications of the Kyrgyz Republic (MTC KR},

The opcrative management and project implementation is being done by the Investment Project
Implementation Group {IPTG), established by Order No. 10-1/1 of | Fehruary 2010 by M1TC KR. For the
purposes of eflicient management of the investment projects, on the base of existing joint GIPL, by Order
of MTC KR No.182 of 23 May 2017 and approval of the KR Ministry of Finanee, from 1 June 2017 thers
were farmed ADB GIPI and IPIG of the World Bank (WB}. The ADB IPIGF s obligations are 10 prepare
and implement nine projects, including the CARFC Corridors | and 3 Connector Road Project Loan
No3432-KGZ(SF)Grant No.0496-KGZ(SE) and CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project,
Phase 7-Additional Financing Loan Ne.3730-KGZ(COLYT.0an No 062 1-KGZ(SI).

The Projects completion date is set as per the Agrcemenis on:

- Financing (Special operations} Loan No.3432-KGZ(SFYGrant No.0496, sigmied between 1he
Gavernment of the Kyreyz Republic (*GKR’) and the Agian Development Bank (FATDB™) on 2
December 2016, which became effcctive on 29 April 2017 by the Law No.§7 of the Kyrgyz
Kepublic — 31 July 20215

— lLoan {Standard transactions {on preferential tenms) No.3730-KGZ(COI.) signed belween the
CGavernment of the Kyrzyz Republic and ADB on December 28, 2018 (hereinafier the "loan
Agrecment™) — 31 July 20217 Grant { Special terms) No Ne0621-KGZ(SF) signed bebween the
Crovernment of (he Kyrayz Republic and ADB on December 28, 2018 —31 July 2021.

2. Significant accouniing policies
2.1. Busis for preparation of consolidaled financial stutemenis

These consolidated Tnancial statements have been preparcd in accordance with the International Public
Sector Accoumting Standards "Cash Accounting”, the requirements of the Asian Devclopment Bank
"Financial Management and Project Analysis” and the relevant arlicles of the Financing Agrecment Loan
No.3432-KGZ (SF¥Grant No. 0496 duted December 02, 2016, articles of the Loan Agrecment [.can Mo
3730-KGACOL) and articles of the Grant Agreement (Grant No.062-KCZ(SF) signed between the
Government of the Kyrzyz Republic and the ATB daled December 28, 2018

In accordance with the cash basis of accounting, all funds, regardless of their source, which are on the

setilement account and are reflected in the statesnont as received, are considered to be income. Expenditures
are the funds [or payment for the works, ouods and services and which are reflected in (he statciment as paid.

The aceounling policies have been applied consistently within the whole period.
Financing

Financing from the Asian Development Bank’s funds is presented
» By the direct payincnt procedure — where the ADTD, by the Orpanization’s requesl, pays directly tw
the specified Supplier.
e Procedures of current expenses lond - ADB pays in advance funds from its Grant acedunt on a
deposit, forming the account of current expenses, whicl is exclusively used for financing of the
ADDB share of eligible expenses.
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Loan Ne.3432-KGZ(SF¥Grant No.0496-KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ({COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(5F)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
( Amounts in tables below are presented in USD)}

Financing through direct payments is recognized in case of approval of the transaction and the payment to
a supplier specified by ADB.

Financing through direct payments is recognized in casc of approval of the transaction and the payment t&
a supplier specified by ADB.

Finarcing through the reimbursement {recovering) and a procedurs of corrent expenses find is recognized
at actual receipt of cash.

The amount of financing by the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic is recognized as such and is included
in the financial statements if funds were transterred to the Project current account (“Government Financing

Account™),
Other income and expenses

Income received as interests, acerued on the balance of cash assets in the local commercial banks, and sales
of tender documents are recognized as other receipts of the Project. Correspondingly, the expenses on
printing the tender documents, advertising expenses, related to the tender procedures and a tax, deducted
by the commereial bank for the intercst henefit in accordance with the tax legislation of the Kyrgyz Republic
are recognized as other ¢xpenses.

{rther income and other expenses on similar types of activities (tender documents and bauk gervices) are
reflected on the net hasis.

Expenses

The Project expenses are recognized as such and are included into the finencial statements, if payments for
poods, works and/or services are made to suppliers.

Functional and presemtation ciarency

The national currency of the Kyrgyz Republ ic is Kyrgy# som (KGS). The presentation currency is the US
Dollar (USII).

For the purpose of preparation of the financial reporting in USD,
» The expenses denominated in KGS are translated in US dollars using the following principles for
reflection of exchange currency operations:

o At the receipt of financing from the Government ofthe KR in soms, the NBKR forsign currency
exchange rate is used as of the date of transaction;

o When paying taxes on foreign otganization’s income, received from the KR source, not
connected with the permanent institution (10%), she insurance fecs for a foreign consultant and
its solid part at the rate of 3%, as well as incomes of local consultants and their relevant insurance
{zes it is applied an exchange rate fixed by the NBKR as of the date of payment;

o For all other expenses, the rate corresponding to the latest cxchange rate is reflected in the
accounting software "1-C Accounting” {the rate of a commercial bank or the rate of the National
Barnk of the Kyrgyz Republic).

e The balance of current accounts in national currency is recalculated at the latest exchange rate reflected
in the accounting soffware *1-C Accounting” (the rate of & commercial bank or the rate of the National

Bank of the Kyrgyz Republic).
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(5F)/Grant No.0496-KGZ(S8F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan Nod730-KGZ(COLyLoan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Far the vear ended 31 December 2019
{Amounis in tables below are presented in USDY)

Any gains or losses from monetery assets or liabilities, expressed in foreign currencies, arising due to
change of official exchange rate are recognized as gain or loss from the exchange rate difference and
presented on a net basis in the Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds,

2.2, Indernal conirol system
Profects forecast

*  Actual implementatico of the Projects plan is controlled monthly and quarterly by submitting
reports to the Government of KR, ADB is provided by reports at the beginning of every reporting
year and after every mission of the ADB;

¢ For efficient functioning of the process, the information on operating ontcomes is timely
analyzed.

Lise of accownting saftware

The Investment Projects Implementation Group (TPTG) uses the automated accounting software “1C:
“Accounting”, which forms the necessary accounting books: a cashbook, a Special bank account in USD
and a transit account in KGS, as well az interest accounts, bank accounts for the KR Government shars of

procesds,

An access (o the accounting software s provided to the Disbursement Specialist {Officer) wha has an
individuzal password to obtain the access to the system, The Dishursement Specialist (Officer) has full
access rights, including data npol, review, adjustment and confirmation of processed transactions and
control over deleting data.

Carvh

»  Bank accounts reconciliations. The balances on accounts in accordance with the accounting records are
reconciled with the bank statements on a4 monthly basis.
¢ The loan account is regularly reconciled on disbursement based on statements from ADB.

Procurement and tses of funds

Used funds are recorded on appropriate accounts and only for the permitted purposes and according to the

Project budget lines.
All expenscs are approved by the IPIG Director in accordance with contracts, invoices and receipts.

The expenses in the accounting records are based on the following supporting documents:
- Invoice with the payment orders;
. Eeceipt to a credit slip about payment;
. Check for poods bearing a stamp “paid in cash®;
* Cash check {when the amount is approved by the IPIG Director).

When employees are on business trips, the Projects reimburse their expenses. such as travel,
accommodation expenses (hotel expenses) and per diems in accordance with the standards established by
the Legislation of the Kyrgyz Republic.
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I'rojeets:

CAREC Corridora 1 and 3 Conpector Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ{SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors T and 3 Conncctor Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No3730-KGZ(COL)YLoan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Nates to Consolidated Financial Statemcents
For the vear ended 3| December 2019
{Amounts in tables below are presented in USDH

Salary

+  The Payment specialist mainltins records of working hours, while the [PIG Dircelor approves the
timeshedts,
Accounting records are slored in separate files with an established right of access,

*  All changes in salaries and pay rales are approved by the Minisiry of Transport and Communications
of the Kyrgyz Republic, leader of the ADR IPIG and they are also agreed with the Ministry of Finance
ol the Ryregyz Republic.

Licifitivy

The Payment Specialist maintains the list of issued invoices payable with the payment date on every
COntract.

3. Taxation

The Projects Agreements do not contain exceptions on the tax payments and duties, except for the expense
rrem “Project Design Advance™. The Projeet is @ VAT payer. The VAT, paid (o the supplier for goods and
survices, is included in the cost of purchase and eorrespondingly in Project expenditures.

Payment of the tax on non-residents from the amount of services rendered by international consnltants is
made from ADE f[unds (20%) and co-financing from the GKR share (10%), with the cxception of an
imlemational consultant, a road enygineer, whose services are paid 1002 fom ADB funds, within the
framewaork of the CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Read Project, Phase 2-Additional Financing Loan
Mo 3730-KGZCOLY Loan No 062 1-KG£{SH).

The Projects are paid for with the renuneration of the national experis from the ADE [unds (90%) and co-
financing from the GKR share (10%4), which arc rccognized as the income of Tocal hired craployees, meome
tax imd contributions to the Social Fund of the Kyrgyz Republic in accordance with the legislation of the
Kyray7 Republic. Employee benefits are paid minus tax and contributions.

‘The Project makes social security contributions from the Emplover at the rate of 17.25% and pays (hem (o
Lhe Social Fund of the Kyegyz Republic, by the following categorics:
- “Comsulting services” From the ADR Tunds {90%) and co-financing from the share of the GKR
(10%):
- “Project management” from the ADT fonds (100%).

Social security fees are deducted from the international individual consultants® fee and paid to the Pension
Fund at the rate of 3% from the ADB funds (30%) and co-financing trom the share of the GKR (10%) from
all types of payments for all the benefits accrued lor the emplovees — foreign citizens or persons without
citizenship, temporarily residing in the Kyrgyz Republic, who have labor relations with a legsl enrity, with
the exception of an inlernational consulant of a road cngineer, whose services are paid for 10% from ADR
funds, within the framewaork of the CAREC Comidors | and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2-Additional
Financing Loan Mo 3730-KGZ{COLYLoan No 062 1-KGZ(5F).

4, Cush



Prujects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ{SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phuse 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ{COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
{Amounts in tables below arg presented in USD)

According to the Financing Agreement, in order to make payments of loan funds for efficient financing of
costs, necessary for the Project implementation, TPIG used the following special account:

ADB special account (Grant No.0496-KGZ (8F) in US dollars No.1180000052422315, opened at the
Branch of “DKIB-Glavny™ CJSC “Demir Kyrgyz Interational Bank™,

ALMI transit account (Grant No.0496-KGZ (5F) in US dollars No.1 1800000924222 14, opened at the
Branch of “DKIB-Glavny” CISC “Demir Kyrgyz International Bank™;

Additonal special account of the ADB (Grant NWo. 496KGZ (SF)} in US dollars M.
LIB0QO0T 13792091, opened in the branch "DEIB-Main" of CISC "Demir Kyrgyz International
Bank"*®,

Additional ADB Transit Account (Grant No. 0496-KGZ ({SF}} in Kyrgyz S0OM No.
1180000113799192, opened in the “DEIB-Main™ branch of “Demir Kyrgyz International Bank™
CJISC*,
GER special-purpose financing account in KGS Mo, 4402051101018792, opened with Leninsky
Regional Territory Management of the Ministry of Finance of the Kyrgyz Republic;,

GKR's interest account opened at the Branch of “DKIB-Glayny” CJSC “Demir Kyrgyz International
Bank™:

o Inthe Kyrgyz soms No.1180000092423123;

o Inlhe US dollars No.1130000092423224,
Tender account of the GKR opened at the Branch of “DKIB-Glavny” CISC “Demir Kyrgyz
International Bank™:

o In the Kyrgyz soms No.1180000092422416;

o In the US doflars No.1180000092422517.

*Opening the additional (special and transit) accounts of the ADB (Grant No. 0496-KGZ (5F)) was agreed
and approved by the Ministry of Finance of the Kyrgyz Republic and the ADB, for the implementation of
works under the category "Resettlement costs”,

The cash balances on the accounts at the end of the year are presented below:

31 December 31 December

2019 2018
ADE funds:
Spectal Account of Grant Wo.0496-KGZ 127 506 23,071
Additional Grant Special account No. 0496-KGZ 170874 -
Total ADR funds - 298,380 23,071
(Mher Project accounts:
Interest account He0 f62
Tender account 14 865 13,800
Toral other funds of the Praject 15,525 £3,962
Total balance of cash 313,945 37033
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Projects:
CAREC Corridors I and 3 Connector Road Project
Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional F inancing

Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
{Amounts in tables below are presented in L7SD)

Replenishment of basic special account of Grant No. 0496-KGZ:

Date Amount
Initial advance:
08.08.2017% 30,000
12122017 30,000
Total for the period from May 23 to December 31, 2017 4,000
22.11.2019 20,000
2M9%total . 000
Total advance from t the Project beginning to December 31, 2019 150,600
Reimbursement of current expenses:
23.11.2017 19,469
Total for the period from May 23 to December a1, 2017 - 19469
29.03.2018 32,679
01.06.2018 49,713
28.08.2018 29,307
29.10.2018 39,321
03.12.2013 30,539
Total for 2018 B 181,559
05.03.2019 48,394
22.05.2019 39,192
07.08.201% 37,524
17.10.2019 47,322
23.12.2619 51,940
Total for 2019 — = 24372
Total reimtbursement of operating expenses from the Profect heginning
o December 31, 2019 - = 425490
‘otal replenishment of the account from the beginning of the Project
to December 31, 2019 375400
Replenishment of additional special account of Grant No. 496-KGZ:
B - - Date  Amount
Initial advance
25.10.2019 170,874
Initial advance ) 170,874
Total replenishment of the account from the beginning of the Project to 170,874

Decemhe; 31,2019

Use of the special accounts funds (SOE):

— ———

Applieation number SOF number Expense period Amount of expenses
4 SOE I 08.08.17-19.10.17 19,469
2 ROE 2 2010.17-31.12.17 31,559

51,418

Tofal for the perivd from 23 May to 31 December 2017
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Prajects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project
Loan No.3432-KGZ{SF)/CGrant No. 144K GZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Pr oject, Phase 2- Additienal Fi inaneing
Loar Ne.3730-KGZ(COLYLoan No.0621-KGZ(ST)

Nates to Conselidated Financiul Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

fAmaunis in tables below are presented in USDY

Application number SOFE number Expcnﬂeriud Amount of EXpenscs
8 S0E 2 Gr.01.18-17.01, (8 20
10 ROE 3 1E.G1.18-30.04.18 48,713
14 S0E 4 0105 18-16.07.18 29,307
15 S0E 5 17.07.18-01.10.1% 30321
1% SOE 6 02.10.18-15.11.1% 30,539
23 SOR 7 16.11.18-31.12.18 36,019
2018 total - 186,529
23 SOE7 01.01.19-05.02.19 11,465
31 S0E & 06.02.19-24.04.19 39,192
41 SOE 9 25.04.19-28.06.19 37,324
49 SO0 ¢ 01.07.19-02.09.19 47,322
66> SOE 11 03.09.19-26.11.19 31,940
Fik) SOE 12 30.11.18-31,12.19 22,494
2019 total - _ 209,937
Total SOF from the heginning of the Projcct to December 31 . 2019 447,594

5. Finaneiog
From the hepinning
2019 2018 of the Projects to 31
December 2019
ADE loan No3432 KGZ£(5F)
Direct payments 1,041,311 3,545,335 4,386,646
Tnlemest expenscs 25485 - 25,465
- L6, 776 3,545,335 46012,111
ADE Grant No,04% KG7({5F)
Initial advanee P70.874 - 200,874
Beplenishment of advance Qg 000 - 120,000
Total advunce 260,874 = J20.874
Replenishment of special aceount 124,572 181,530 425,404
Direet paymeints 2,003 840 1.878.264 4,300,957
- ) 2,489,092 2,059,823 5,047,231
KR Governmcont
Replenishiment of current accoum 442,050 1I86,057 1,548,067
- 442,050 1,186.057 1,648,067
Total financing of the Projeets 2007018 6,791,215 11,307 404
6. Other (Expenses)/Receipts
From the beginning
2019 2018 of the Projects to 31
December 2619
Trterest aoonunt
Accrued interests 366 308 308
Return of ¢ollateral on ienders {68) {180 (248)
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Projcets:

CAREC Corridors [ and 3 Connector Road Projeci
Loan No.3432-KGZ(SFy/Grant Ne.0496—KGZ(SE)

CAREC Carridors 1 and 3 Conpector Road P
Loan No3730-KGZ(COT.)/Loan No,0621-

KGZ(SF)

Notes 1o Consolidated Fingncial Stalemenis

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Amounis in tables below arc presented in USD)

raject, Phase 2- Additional Finaneing

From the beginning

019 2018 of the Projecis to 31
Decemboer 2019

Totat 498 124 6
Teader acconunt

Receipts for tender documentation 1.235 6,785 16,603
Expenses related to the tender procedures {190y (1,116} (1.673)
Totaf 1,065 5,669 14,928
Total other receipts 1,563 5,797 15,590

7. Expenditores

For 2019;
Actual expenses for 2019
e ADB ~ GKR
Category Grani No. Loan No., Total
0496 3432 expenscs
KGZ(SF) KGZ(SF)
l. Works 430,887 1,041 311 223,435 [, 695,633
2. Consulting services 1,429 238 - 166,618 1,595,856
Supervision over construction 405,242 - 44570 445,791
Consultants on assistarice in the
reforming the road management
FpsEam 12463} - 15425 143 036
Collection of duta and insiallation
af ruad management svsient assels
Jurther (implementation of RAMS) HE7 208 - 105371 BYr 580
Awefit serviges 11 iR8a - 1,243 12,429
3. Advance for project design
docimenialion 267,786 - 30,231 318.m7
4. Project management B3 872 - - 83872
Lathor covts 62,363 - 62,363
Grouds and current expenses 23,500 - - 23,500
> Intergst expenses - 25,465 - 25,465
Projects toial 2,213,783 1,066,776 440,284 3,7211,843
For 20| 8;
Actoal expenses for 2018
ADB GKR
Calegory Grant No. I.oan No. Total
3496 3432 CXpenses
KGZ(SF) KGZ(SF)
1. Works 1,467,035 3,545,335 1,099,973 6,112,343
2. Consulting services 269,363 - 22,077 291440
Stipervision over construcion 73846 - X427 &4 273
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Projeet

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF}Grant No.0496-KG Z(5F

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Projcet, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)T.oun No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Conselidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Amounts in tables below are presented in USD)

Actnul expenses for 2018
ADE _ GKR
Catcgory Grrunt No, Loan No, Total
0496 3432 eXpedses
- KGZ(5F) KGZ(5F) .

Consultants on assistence i the

roforming the road management

SYstem foR332 - I1iid 120 446

Collection of data and installotion

of roud management system assets

Jurther fimplemertation of RAMS) 73,265 - £,323 74588

Audit services 0,220 - F2i3 12,133
3. Advance for project design
documentation 255 085 - 60,101 315276
4. Project management 73,311 - - 73,311

Lobor coss o, 180 - - a3, 180

Cioods and current expenses f7f31 - - {7131
Projects’ total 2,064,794 3545335 1,182.241 6,792,370

From the beginning of the Projects until December 31, 2019:

Aclual expenses for the period of the Projcct

implementation
Cutcgory AUB GKR
Grani No. Loan No., Total
0494 3432 expenses
Nl KGZ(5F) KGZ(5F) N
1. Works [,897,922 4,586,646 1,323,408 7,807,974
. Consulting services 1,712 442 - 190,235 1,902 697
Supervivion over copstrtelion 477,038 - 33,006 530,064
Consultanty on assistance in the
reforming the rood management 232,824 - 28,079 280,903
S1fem
Implementation of RAMS D6 474 - g, 64 1,067,168
Auefit 22 Hig - 2,436 24,562
3. Advance for profect desin 941,718 - 123845 1,070,563
documentation
4. Project management 196,814 - - 196,814
Lahar costs 144,809 - - 144,809
Croody and current expenses 32005 - - 52,005
Projects total . - 25 465 - 25,465
Tatal Projects cxpenses 4,748,916 4,612,011 1,642,488 11003515

8. Budget performance

ADB use of the T.oun Ne3432- KGZ(SF):
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Frojecis:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Raoad Praject

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.0M96-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Roud Project, Phase 2- Additiona) Financing
Loan No3730-KGZ{COL)/Loan No.(62I-KGZ{5F)

Naoles to Consolidated Financial Statements
lFFor the year ¢nded 31 December 2019
{Amounts in tables below are presenicd in USD)

Funds used from the

beginning of the Total Project  Available Project funds
Tiem - Project bodget (budget- actual)
118 dollars Yo US dollars TS dollars %
Worls 4586646 0.07% 50,592 068 46,005,422  90.93%
Interest cxpenses 25,465 1.26% 2,015,313 1,989,848  98.74%
LUnallocated cxpenses - - 5,078,204 3078204 100.00%
Total 4,612,111 8.00% 57,085,585 53,073,474 92.00%

FCAREC Carridory I and 3 Connector Road Project Loan No. 343 2-KGZ[SE) Grant No OG- KFF{STF)

ADRB use of the Grants Ne0496- KGZ(SF):

Total Available Projeets
Item Funds used from the Project funds {budgpet-
beginning of the Project budget actual)
L US dollars Yo US dollars  US dollars Yo
Works 1,897,922 9.18% 20,680,000 18.782,078  590.82%
Congulting services 1,712,462 30.58% 5,600,000 3,887,538 69.42%
Advance (or preparation of
project design 941,718 56.14% 1a77460 735,742 43.36%
documentation
Project management 196,814 9.11% 2,160,000 1,963,186  00.85%
Expenses of relocation - - 170,874 170,874 100.00%
Unaliocated cxpenses - - 5,109,126 5,100,126 100.00%
Total 4748916 13.42% 35397460 30,648,544 86.58%
FCAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conmector Rowd Profect Loun No3432-KGZ(SF Grant No, 04061 (FZRFR)
GKR eo-financing share:
Funds usced from the Total
beginniny of the Project Availzblc Project
Tiem _ Project budgct funds (budget- actnal)
T IS dollars o US dollars  US dollars Vo
Works 1,323,408  8.39% 15,786,000 14,456,592  91.61%
Consulting services 190,235 27980 30,000 439,765 72.02%
Advance for preparation of project 128,845  69.13% 186,384 57539 30.87%

design documentation

Expertizc and approval of the project - 440,000 440,000 100.00%
_Unallocated ¢xpenses - 2,060,000 2,060,000 100.60%

Total 1,642,488 8.58% 19,146,384 17,503,896  91.42%
*CAREC Covridors T and 3 Connector Roed Project Loan No, 3432-KGT(SF)Grant No,0496-K(GZ{SF)

0. Liabilitics
As of 31 December 2019, the Prajeels had the lollowing invoice obligations:

As per the GKR financing share:
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conncctor Road Project

Loun No.3432-KGZ{SF)/Grant No. 46— KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additionul Financing
Louan No.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ{SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statcmeats
For the vear ended 31 December 2019
{Amounts in1ables below are presented in U SN

Intermediate Ull[lﬂil] T
Payment YTy
Caontractor Catcgory Waorks period Certificates {IPC} obligatiens
# Dale Ly
TODINT Costruzioni Warks October 2019 3 101020 160,034
Clenarali S.p A e
“Works™ total; 100,634

1 Events after reporting date

Subsequent to the reporting date and prior to the date (he consolidated financial statemeiils were approved,
except for the situation with the contractor “Todini Contruzioni Generali S5.pA” below, no other events
acewreed that would uffect the disclosures in (he financial statemenis prasented,

Current state of the “Todini Contruzioni Generali S,pA” case

In January 2021, the original documents seized by the law enforcement agencies of the Kyrgyz Republic,
indicating the preparation, conduct and results of the tender for the implementation of road construciion works
on the CAREC Comridors 1 and 3 Connectar Road Projoct Loan No.3432-KGZ{SF )/ Grant No.0496-K GZ(SF),
were returned for further work on the demand for a bank guarantee in connection with the termination of the
contract willh the contractor "Todini Contruzioni (Generali 3.2 A" on the basis of an effective scnlence on abuse
otficial position and a bribe. 'I'he deadline for reviewing the decision on the criminal case by way of cassation
appeal expired in Oclober 2020, As of the date of approval of the repart, the Project carried out procedures for
sclecting 4 new contractor fur road construction work, The deadlines for the planned road construction works,
respectively, have been postponed for the period of completion of (he selection and conclusion of a contract
with 4 new contractor, on the basis of which the Organization has prepared and sent a letter (o the Minisiry of
Economy and Finance of the Kyrgyz Republic, extending the deadiine for closing the Project until 31
December 2026,

In March 2021, the Project applied to JSC "Muganbank" {Azerbaijan), the bank that issued an unconditional
bank guaraniee to secure advanee payments to (he contractor of the CAREC Corrtdors 1 and 3 Connector Road
Project Loan No.3432-KG7(SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ{SF) — "Tadini Contrazioni Generali S. pA" with a leter
on transterring the corresponding amounts of the bank guaraniee to the accounts of the Ministry of Transport
and Communications of the Kyrgvz Republic. As of the date of completion of the audit, the amounts of the
bank guarantec have not been transtorred, the Project is taking measures to claim the bank guarantee {or an

adwvance,
/) f N
— g /x /
£ y i
Wi /
N.B. Kniynhaey S.K. Ihraimoy
Deputy Minister of MTC KR Director of ADB TPIG
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PROJECTS:
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(HLE)MARKA AUDIT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT
BY HLB MARKA AUDIT LLC
ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CAREC CORRIDORS 1 AND 3 CONNECTOR ROAD PROJECT
LOAN NO.3432-KGZ{SE}YGRANT NO.0496-KGZ(SF)
AND CAREC CORRIDORS 1 AND 3 CONNECTOR ROAD FROJECT, PHASE 2-
ADDITIONAL FINANCING LOAN NO.3730-KGZ(COL)/LOAN NO.8621-KGZ(5F)

Asian Development Bank

Ministry of Transport and Communications of the Kyrgyz Republic
Qualified opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the CAREC Corridors 1 and 3
Comnector Road Project and CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional
Financing (hereinafter referred to as the "Projects"), implemented by the Ministry of Transport end
Communications of the Kyrgyz Republic with the Investment Project Implementation Group of the Asian
Development Bank (together the "Organization”) and financed by the Asian Development Bank
{hereinafter referred to as the "ADB") under the Financing Agreement Loan Mo.3432 KGZ{SF)Grant No.
0496 KGZ(SF} dated December 2, 2016 (hereinafter referred to as the "Financing Agreement”), Loan
Agreement Loan No3730 KGZ (SF) dated December 28, 2018 (heroinafter referred to as the "Loan
Agresment»), Grant Agreement No.0621 KGZ (SF) dated December 28, 2018 (the "Grant Agreement”),
and co-financed by the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic (the "GKR"), which includes the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, consolidated statement of sources and uvses of
funds, the statement of cash flows for the special account of Grant No. 0496 KGZ(SF) and the statement
of cash flows for the additional special account of Grant No. 0496 KGZ (SF) for the year then ended, a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatery information,

In aur opinion:

The consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, for the year ended 31 Drecember
2020 present fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the International Public Sector
Accounting Standard: Financial Reporting under the Cash Basis of Accounting, requirements of the
ADB and the relevant articles of the mentioned above Agreements;

—  The Organization, in all material respects, used all the funds provided to the Projects in accordance
with the conditions of the Agreements, with due attgntion to the econonty and eificiency, and anly
for the purpases for which the funds wers provided;

— The GKR co-financing funds were submitted and used in accordance with the terms of the
Agreements and only for the purposes for which the financing was submitted for, except for the
effects of the matter deseribed in the “Basis for gualified opirion” section of this report;

_ The goods and services for the implementation of the Projects were purchased and provided in
accordance with the requirements of the Agreements, including specific norms of the procurement
guidelines of the Asian Development Bank;

_  As for the Statements of Expenditure (SOB), adequate supporting documentation has been
maimtained to support claims to the Asian Development Bank for reimbursement of expenditures
incurred;

_  The cash balances of the special account and the additional special account as at 31 Decsmber 2020
and their movements for the year then ended, as well as the supporting documents and information
provided with them, can be truly relied upon to suppott applications for replenishment in accordance
with the requirements described in the Apreemncnts.



Busiy for gualified opinion

In 2020, the Govermment of the Kyrgyz Republic did not fully comply with its obligation ta timely (nance
the Projects’ expenses. As presented in Note |0 “Liabililics™ 10 the consolidated financial statemeats as at
31 Decetnber 2020, the overdue liabilities on the unpaid invoices and advances to the Projects by the
Government of the Kyrgyz Republic amounted to 1S 1,261,454,

We condocted our andit in accordance with the Tnternational Standards on Audiiimg (ISA). Our
responsibilitics under those standards are further described in the “Audftor’s responsibilities for audit of
Profects consnlidated financial statements™ section of this reporl. We are independent of the Organization
in accordance with the Inlernational Eihics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of [thics for
Trofessional Accountants (ICSBA Code) together with the clhical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial stalements in the Kyrgyz Hepoblic, and we have fulfilled owr othor cthical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidenes we have oblained is suflicient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasiy of matter — accounting methodology and restrictions on use, and material aacertalnty nbont
{ifigation

W draw your allention 1o Noke 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the accounting
method, The Projects' consclidated financial stalciments are prepared (o help the management of the
Organizalion to meet the requirements of the ADB and the GKR, as a result, the Projects' consolidated
financial statements cannot be used for any other purpose.

We also draw attention to Note 11 o the consolidatcd fihancial statements, which describes that the
conlractor "Todini Contruzioni Generali S.p A" may initiate litigation on certain issues of contractual
conditions at this stage. The Organization cannot provide information on the impact of the cvicome of the
litigalion and pre-lral proceedings on further financing of the Projects. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter,

Responsibilitics of management and those charged with povernance for Projects’ consolidated financial
stafements

Managemeni of the Organization is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the conditions of the Agreements, the guidelines of
the Astan Dieveloprcent Bank and ihe Internationa] IPublic Sector Accounting Standard: Financial Reporting
under the Cash Basis of Accounting, described in Note 2, and for maintaining internal control system which
the management congider relovant to the preparation and fair prescntation of financial statements that are
(ree From material misstatement, whether doe to fraud or error.

Those charged with Fovernance for the consolidated financial staterments of the Projects are responsible for
overseeing the preparation of the Projects’ consolidated financial statements,

While preparing these consolidated financial statements, the management of the Projects is rosponsible for
asscssmenl of the Projects capability 1o continue its activities, or disclosures of information in relevant
cases, related to the on-going activitics, except for the cascs when the management intends to close the
Prajests, W lemminale s aclivities or when the Projects do not have any other alternatives but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of Projecis’ consolidated financial statements

Chur objectives une o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consclidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to frand or error, and to izsue an anditor’s report
thal includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantse thal an
audit conducted in accordance with the International Standards of Auditing will always detect a material
misstatement when it Cxists.

Bdisstaternents can arise from frand or error, and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expeeted to influence the ceconomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
[nancial statements.



As part of 2n audit in accordance with the International Standards of Anditing, we cxercise professional
Judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughoul the audit. We also:

ideatily and assess the risk of malerial misstatement of consolidated fnancial statements, whether
due to fraud or errors, design and perform audit procedures responsive to thuse risks; and obtain
audit evidence that is sulficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
deteeting & material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than [or one resulting from crrors,
as frand may involve collusion, forgery, intertional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
ol inlermal contreol;

obtain an undcrstanding of internal control relevant to the andit in order 1o desipn audit procedurss
that are appreprialc in Lhe circumstances, but not for the purpese of expressing an opinion on the
¢llectiveness of the Projects’ internal contral:;

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasenableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management;

conclude on the appropriateness of the management's use of the going concern assomption and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there is a material uncerlainty related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Projects to continue as a going
concern. Il we conclude that there is a material uncertainty, wo musl draw attention in onr anditor's
report t the relevant disclosures in the consolidaled Mancial statements or, if such disclosures are
mappropriate, modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on audit evidence obtained prior 1o
the date of our audil upiniun. However, futurc cvents or conditions may causc the Projects to lose
their ability to continue operaling continuously, As indicated in Note 1, the Projects' completion
date i3 31 July 2021, in accordance with the Finaneing Apreement for the CAREC Comidors 1 and
3 Comnector Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ(SFYGranl No 0496—K (GZ(5T);

cvaluate the overall presentation, struclure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the fnancial statements represent the underlying
(ransactions an¢ cvents in 4 manner that achieves fair presentalion;

oblain [indings and other relevant suditor’s evidences regarding (inancial information of the
Prajects activilies inside of the Organization (o express our opinion regarding the consolidated
lnancial statements.

We are responsible for direction, supervision and fulfillment of an audil. We are solely responsible for our
anditor's report,

We communicale wilh those charged with governance regarding, among other maticrs, the plamed scope
and timing of the audit and significant awdit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
contrel that we identily during our andit.

HI.B Marka Audit LLC

Livense RINN 46 of November 13, 2018, issned by the State
Commission on Regulation and Supervision of Finaneial
Murket under the Governmment of the Kyvgiz Republic
Regiviration certificate #4E50-3304-300 with the Mirivev af
Justive of the Ryrinz Republic dated 11 Oviober 2010,

38, FProfessor ZimicStrees, Biskiek, Bveeve Repubdic
Talephone/fon: [FE2) 32 Y135

r" i
AM. Asylbékova, Director; Auditor
Cmelified Awditer " Ceptifioe Srr:es AL D2, reg 809G of
Awgnest 07, 2044

ofPrmls

L.G. Zaluaina, Aﬂdﬁtur, Audit Team Leader

Chacl iffed Audifor Cértifidate No.00222 ol 3f 320
LNpfFR (Russian) - Certificate No [708243 of 09 12 2641
CAP Clertificate No, 0007812 of 13122007

28 Junc 2021



Projects;

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connecior Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)¥Grant No.0496-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ{COL)Y Loan Nod621-KGZ(5F)

MANAGEMENT'S STATEMENT ON RESPONSIBILITY
TOR PREPARATION AND APPROVAL OF PROJECTS CONSOLIDATED FINANCTAL
STATEMENTS

The statement below, which should be considered together with the description of responsibilities of
independent auditors, accompanied the report of independent auditors, is made with the purpose o
distinguish the responsibilities of auditors and the management of the Ministry of Transport and
Communications of the Kyrgyz Republic along the Investment Projeets Implementation Group (herealicr
both the “Organization’™ in respect of the consolidated financial statements of the CAREC Corridors 1
and 3 Connector Road Project Loan No3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No. 049K GZ(5F) and CAREC Corridors
1 and 3 Connecior Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Finaneing Loan No.3730-KGZ{COLYLoan
No.0621-KGZ(SF) {hereinafter the ‘Project’). The mamagement of the Organization is responsible for
preparation of the Projects consolidated financial statements as financed by the Asian Development Bank:
Financing Agreement Loan No. 3432-KGZ(SF) Grant No. 0496-KGZ($F) dated December 2, 2016 (the
"Financing Agreement™), Loan Agreement No. 3730 KGZ{COL) dated December 28, 2018 (the "Loan
Aprcement™), {rant Agreement No. 0621 KGZ(SF) dated Thecember 28, 2018 (the "Grant Agrocment™)
that fairly reflects, in all matcrial respects, the consolidated financial position as at December 31, 2020,
somrees and uses of the Projects funds and cash flows within the Special Grant Account 0496 KGA(SF),
its Additivnal Special Account for and the Special Account of Grant 0621 KGZ{SF) for the reporting
period in accordance with the [nternational Public Scetor Accounting Standards (IPSAS-cash method),
the requirements of the Asian Development Bank and the relevant arlicles of the Agreements (Financing,
T.aan and Cirant).

When preparing the Projects consolidated financial statements, the management of the Organization iy
responsible for
- selecting appropriale accounting principles and using those consistently;
- application of reasonable estimations and calculalions;
- compliance with the Asian Devclopment Bank’s requirements snd dizclosure of all material
discrepancics from the specified standards in comments to the financial statements,

The management of the Organization is also responsible for:
- development, implementation and provision of effective and sale inlernal control system in the

Projeets;

- maintenance of accounling svstem that permits to provide infermation on financial status of the
Projects with a specified degree ol wccuracy at any given time and assure [inancial statements
compliance with requirements of the Asian Development Bank;

- taking mezsures for ensuring the Projects assets integrity within the terms of its reterence;

- detection and prevention of fraud and other misuses,

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 were approved by the
management of the Organization on 28 June 2021,

For and on behalf of the management of the Organization:

Deputy Minister of Transport and Communications ol the Kyrgyz Republic
28 June 2021

fr';//////\l ?



Projects:

CAREC Corridors T and 3 Connector Boad Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ{SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2-Additional Financing
Loan No.2730-KGZ({COL)/Loan No.b621-KGZ{5F)

Consolidated Stutement of Finuncial Position
As ol 31 December 2020
{Amounts in tables below are presented in TSI

31 December 31 December

Note 2020 2019
ASSETS:
Cash b 246,004 313,905
Project expenses 5 19 851,156 i LG8, 387
Exchange rate ditference 5.7 {7.013) 707
TOTAL ASSETS 20,090,207 11,322,999
LIABNITIES:
ADB Loan No.3432 -KGA(SI)} ] 5,308,146 4,612,111
ADB Granl No. (496 -KGZ(SE) 6 6,606,776 5,047,231
ADB Loan No 3730 -KGA(COT.) G 4,950,758 -
AT Gramt No.04%90 -KGZ(8F) 6 504,534 -
GR I co-financing i 2,144,830 [, 048,067
Other receipts 7 15,054 15,590
TOTAL LTABTLITIES 20,090,207 11,322,999

N.B. Kniynbacy S.K. Tbraimov
Deputy Minister of MTC KR Director of ADB IPIG

Notes on pages 14-41 are an integral part of this report i



Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Cennector Road Project
Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF ) Grant No.0496—KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Boad Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SK)

Copsoliduted Statement of Sources and {ses of Funds

For the year ended December 2020
(Amonnts in tables below are presented in 11SI3)

MNotes on pages 14-41 are an integral part of this report

Sinee
Projeets Since Projecty
launch to 31 launeh to 31
Deccmber 2y December 2009
Wote HI20 202 (recalculated)(reealculated)
Opening balance, including: 5 313,905 - J7,033 -
ADE Crrant No 0490 -KG7 298,380 - 2300 -
Cher fruks 15,525 - 13,962 -
Financing sources:
ADE Loar No. 3432 -KGZ 1,196,035 5,808,146 1,066,776 4,612,111
ADE rrant No. 0496 -KGZ 1,619,545 8,668,776 2,489,092 5047231
ADE Loun No. 3730 -KGZ 4,950,753 4,550,758
ADB Gremt No. 02 -KGZ 504,534 504,534
GER 406,872 2,144,939 442,050 1.648,067
Total financing: & 8,767,744 20,075,153 3,997,918 11,307,409
Net other receipts: 7 (536) 15,054 1,563 15,590
Total receipts B 8,767,208 20,090,207 3,999,481 11,322,959
Projects cxpenscs: 8
1 Works
ADE Lown No. 3432 -KCGY (1,152,990 (5,739,636 (1,041,311} {4,586,6456)
ADE Grant No, 496 -KGZ (483,411) (2,383,333) (430,387) (1,.897.922%
ADE Loan No. 3730-EGZ (COL} (4,945 812y (4,945.312) - .
KR - {429,227) {1,757,07) (223,307} (1,328,280)
{7,013,440% (14.826,288) (1,700,505) (7,812,348)
2 Consnlting services
Ovamt N, (496 -KGF (3942007 (2606.6aT)  (1.429.238) (1,712,462)
Grant No. 0621-KGZ (5F) {359,425) {399,425} - -
GER (67,558} {257,795} {166,6T8) (190,235}
(1,361,183  {3,263,881) (1,595858) {1,42,697)
3 Adwvance for the preparation of the
design and estimate documentation
ADR Grant No, 0496 -KGZ (155,449)  (1,097,168) (267,786) {941,718}
GER (8,42%) (137,273) (50,231} (128,845)
(163,578) (1,234,441} (318,117 (1.070,563)
4 TI'roject management
ADR Grant No. 0496 -KGZ (92,808) {239,621 (B5,272) (196,814)
_ADB Grant No. 0621-KGZ (SF) (85,3423 {85342y - -
(178,150) {374,963) {(85.872) (196,814)
5  Reselflement and land acguisilion
L0osts
ADBE Crrant No. 049 -K(GZ {64,897) (64,397) - -
AR {13,230 (13,230 - -
{78,127} {18,127) - -
& Imterest cxpenses
ADE Loan No. 3432 -KGE (43,045} (68,511) (25,465) (25,46%)
ADNR Logr No. 3730-E07 (COL) {4.,546) (4,946} = -
(47,991} {73,457 {25.465) {25,465)
4



Projects:

CAREC Corriders 1 and 3 Conneclor Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(S5F)/Grant No.0 496K GF{5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and } Conpector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No3730-KGZ(COLY Loan No 0621-KGZ(SF)

Consolidated Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds
For the vear ended December 2020
{Amounts in tables below are presented in USLY)

Bince

Projects Since Projeets
launch o 31 laoach tz 31
December 2019 December 20170
Naote 2020 2020 (recalculated) (recaleolated)
Projects expenscs total: (8,842,769 (19.851,156) (3,725,715) (11,048357)
ADH Loan No. 3432-KGZ (SF) (1,196,035) (5.808,146)  (1,066,776)  (4.612,[11)
ADR Grant No, 0496-KG2 (8F) (1,692,765) (6,441,6800 (2,213,783) (4,748 9164}

ADB Loan No. 3730-KGZ (COL) (4,950,758) (4,950,758} -
ADE Grant No, 062 1-KGX (SF) (484,767) (484,76°F) - -
GER (518,444)  (2.165,805)  (445156)  (1,647.361)
{Luss)income from FX rate ditfercoce 5,7 7,720 7.013 3,106 {77}
Closing cash balance, including: 5 246064 246,064 313,905 313,905
ADR Gramt Mo, 0496 -KGZ 225,160 225,160 298 380 298,340
ADR Grart No. (021 -KGZ 19,766 19,766 - -
Chther ftnds 1,138 1,138 15,525 15,525

.
/ o
it
N.B. Knivohaey 5.K. Ibraimov
Deputy Minister of MTC KR Director of ADB IPIG

Notes on pages 14-41 are an integral part of this report 10



Projccis:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Projeet

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF¥Grant No.0496-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 #nd 3 Conncetor Road Project, Phase 2- Additienal Financing
Loan No373-KGZ{COL) T.oan Na0621-KGZ(SF)

Consolidated Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds
For the vear ended December 2020
(Amaounts in tables below are presented in LS

Accounl # 1180000092422315
Bank JSC *Demir Kyrgyz international Bank™
Bank whersabouts Bishkek
Financing Agrecment ADB Grant No, 0496-KGZ
Currency US dollars
Opcring balance as of T January 2020 = 127,50
Tnitial advance : =
Plus: Replenishment of the account during the period: o - 236,524
[rom January | to December 31, 20240 236,824
Minus: Amount of the eligible expenses paid oul during the
period: - (245,147)
from January 1 to December 31, 2020 (245,147}
Closing balance 15 of 31 December 2020 119,183
Speeial Account balance 119,183
/ Y
e FAE y f ¥ .
=N.B. Kaiynbaey 8.K. Ibraimov
Deputy Minister of MTC KR Director of ADB I’IG

Notes on pages 14-41 arc an integral part of this report 11



Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and } Connector load PProfect

Loan No.3432-KGZL(SF)/Grant Nod4%6—KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conncctor Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing

Loan No3730-KGZ{COL)Y Loan No621-KGZ{SF)

Statement of Cash Flows on Special Account of Grant 0496 KGZ({5F)
Far the year ended 31 December 2020
{ Amounts in the tables below are presented in [I5T))

Account # - 1180000113795192
Bank JSC “Demir Kyrgyz Intermational Bank™
Bank whercabouls Bishkek
Finuncing Agreement ADB Grant No. M496-KGZ
Currency US dollars
Opening balance as of 1 Jaounary 2020 170,874
Initial advance - -
P’lus: Replenishment of the account during the period: ] - —-—— -

from Jannary | to Deeember 31, 2020 -
Ninus: Amounl of the eligible expenses paid out during the {64,897}
period:

from January 1 1o December 31, 2020 (64,897)
Closing balance as of 31 December 2020 5,977

Special Account halancc 105,977
-'_HH-"\.
‘-/f. ’_f - / / II
el - £ A !
~ N.B. Kaiynbaev 5.K. Thraimov
Depuly Minisier of MTC KR Dircetor of ADB IPIG
12

Notes on pages 14-41 are an imilegral part of this report



P'rojocts:
CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project
Loan Na 3432-KGZ{SF)Grant No.MY%6-—KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Projeet, Phase 2- Additional Financing

Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Statement of Cash Flows on Special Accouni of Grant 0621 KGZ{SF)

Tor the vear ended 31 December 2020
(Amounts in the lables below are presented tn [ST)

Account # 129906422003308

Bank JSC “Demir Kyrgyz International Bank™
Bank whereabowris Bishkek

Financing Agrecmont ADPE Grant No. (496-KGZ

Currcney US doliars

Opeping balance as of 1. January 2024

Initial advance
Plus: Replenishment of the account during the period:

from January 1 to December 31, 2020
Minus: Amount of the eligible expenses paid out during the

period:

[tom January 1 to December 31, 2020
Cloging balance as of 31 Decemboer 2024

apecial Account balance

50,000
(30,234)
(30,234)
19,766
19,766

""{’:{T Kaiynbaev
Diepely Minister of MTC KR

Notes on pages 14-41 are an intogral part of this report

LS & ¢

5.K. Thraimov
Dircetor of ADB [PTCG

"
%
!
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Projccts:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Rnad Project

Loan No 3432-KGZ(SFYGrant No.MIG—KGASE)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ{COLYLoan No. 2 1-KGZ(SF)

Motes to Conselidated Financial Statcments
For the year cnded 31 December 2024{
f Amounts in tables below are presented in USDY)

1. Projects background
fa) Projects' oljective and financing

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Praject Loan No.3432-KGZ{SF/Grant No. 0496 KGZ{SF) and
CAREC Cormridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing Loan No.3730-
KGZ{COL)YT.oan No.062]-KGZ(ST) {the “Prajects™) are implemented the following way:

— CAREC Comidors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project in accordance wilh the Financing Agecement
{Special operations) Loan #3432-KGZ(SFYGrant #04%6-KGZ(ST) signed between the Government
of the Kyrgyz Republic (Government of the Kyreyz Republic) and the Asian Bank Development
Bank (ATM) dated Docomber 2, 2016 (hereinafter the “Financing Apresment™). The Apreemeni was
ratified by the Law of the Kyrryz Republic No.71 of April 29, 2017;

- CAREC Corridors | and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing as per the
Apresments:

o Financing (Special operations) Toan No 3432-KGZ(SFWrant No.0496, signed between the
Government of the Kyrgyz Republic ("GER") and the Asian Developinent Bank (FADIT) on
2 December 2016, which became offcetive on 29 April 20107 by the Law No.87 of the Kyrgyz
Republic;

o Grant {Speeial terms) No.062 1-KGZ(ST) signed between the Government of the Kyrgyz
Republic and ADB on December 28, 2018 {(hereinafiter the “Granl Agrecment™). The Grant
Agreement was ratificd by the Law of the Kyrgyz Republic No. 87 dated July 18, 2015,

The objective of the Projects i to improve the efficiency and safety of movement of gocds and people
along the Project Road.

In the course of ils woik, the Projects will achieve the following results:

Outcome 1. Rehabilitation of a section of road approximately 70 km long, ffom Epkin village to
Bashkugandy village {Tefermred to as Section 2B of he conneeting road), including special measures o
ensure road safety and adaptation to climate change.

Qutcome 2. Strongthening instifutional capacity by providing consultancy services [or dolailed design,
construction supervision, ’roject management, audil ol Project financial statements, support for safeguards,
preparation and implementation of a road asset management system, and review of 2 pilot performance-
tased road maintenanee contract (pilol conloact).

Outcome 3. Rehabilitation ol two road sections from the town of Balykchy to the kilometer columm 43 (43
km) (referred to as Section | of the connecting road) and from Kochkor village 1o the village of Tipkin (25
kim) (referred 1o as Section 2A ol the connecting road) wilh 2 total iength of 68 km. {together with Phase
2), followed by performance-oriented road maintenance. Providing suppori o the MTC KR in carrying out
the relform of the road sector, road safety measures and the Road Asset Management System (hercinafllor
referred to as the “RAMSE™).

As of December 31, 2020, (he Projects’ Budget lotals to USD 205.65 min, of which:

13



Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conneetor Road Project

Loan No. 3432 KGZ(SFYGrant No.0496-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ{COLMLoan No0621-KGZ{ST)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemenis
For the yoar ended 31 December 2020
{ Amounts in tables below are presciled in USTY)

Actually
o . allocated rom Available
Total financing the beginning of bulunce
Project
5DR Im min USD} % 1n min USIH In min UST
Asian Development Bank 41,905,000 17375  84% 17.93 155.82
Grant Na 0496-K{iZ{SF)* 3540 17% 0.67 2873
Loan No 3432-KOGZ(5F)** 41,905,000 6035 29% 5.81 54.54
Grant No.062 1-KGZ(SF) 950 5% 0.50 .00
Loan No. 3730-KGZ(CO1.} G8.50  33% 495 63.55
Governtnent of the Kyrgyz
Republic - 319 16% 214 29746
~Total 41,905,000 205.65 _100% 20,07 185.58

*A¢ the time of the conclusion of the Financing Agreement, the amount of funds allocated for finemeing
ADR amounted ta (8D 36.72 million, including the category "Advance for the preparation of desiyn
estimates” (hereinafter PDA} including the costs of the PDA project "ddvamce for the preparation of design
estimares for the subsequent profect of the road conmeciing the CAREC corvidors | and 37 Grant No, 6002
thereinafter PDA 6002-KEGZ) in the amount of USD 3 mitfion. In connection with the notification of the
ADR dated Fuly 26, 2017 on the closure of the PDA Gremi No. 6002 on Juldy 18, 2017 with expenses mcurred
i the amowdt of S5 1,322,339.57, the amount for the PO category Grant No. M96-KGZ (S5F) was
changed. dccovdingly, the wnused amownt of Grand No. 6002 under the PDA category at the fume of the
Project implementation was 1,667 460043 US dollars, which led to a decrease in the gmount of financing
from the ADE imder the Financing Agreement (Special operations) of Loan Na. 3432-KGZ (SF)/ Grant No.
0496-KG7 (5F) signed between the Government of the Kyrgye Republic (GKR} and the Asian Development
Bank (ADE) dated December 2, 2006 to the omount of 35,397, 460043 US dollars.

&Y e amount of the Loan Budget in SDR was converted irmto US dollars of the fixed exchange rate of ADE
7. 440270 [ISD per [ SDR ar of the December 31, 20207 statement.

{6} Coregories and shares of financing provided by ADB and GKR

As provided in the Apreements (Financing, 1.oan and Grant) , the following calegorics of cligible expenses
may be covercd [ram the funds of:

4
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Projecis:

CARFEC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Boad Project

Loan NoJ432-KGE(SFY/Grant No MK GA(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conncctor Road Project, Phase 2- Additiovnal Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ{5F)

Noies to Consolidated Finaneial Statements
For the year ended 31 Drecember 2020
(Amounis in tables below are presented in TS0

) Execative of the Projects

The execittive agency of the Projects responsible for timely and efficient performance of works on the
Prajoets, as a whole, is the Ministry of Transport and Communicalions of the Kyrgvez Republic (MTC KR),

The operative management and project implementation is being done by the Investment Project
Implomentation Group {TPIG), established by Ordor WNo. 10-%/1 of | February 2010 by MTC KR. For the
purposes of efficient management of the investment projects, on the base of existng joinl IPIG, by Order
of MTC KR No.182 of 23 May 2017 and approval of the KR Ministry of Finance, from 1 June 2017 there

were [vmmed ADB IPIG and IPIG of the World Bank (WB}. The ADB IPIG’s obligations are to prepare
and implement nine projects, including the CAREC Corridors | and 3 Connector Road Project Loan

No.3432-KGZ{8F)Granl No.0496-KGZ(8F) and CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project,
Phasc 2- Additional Financing Loan No 3730-KGZ(COLYLoan No.062 1-KGZ(SF).

The Projects completion date is set as per the Agreements on:
Financing CAREC Comidors 1 and 3 Comnector Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ(5F Y Grant
No.0496, signed between the Government of the Kyrpyz Republic ("GKR’) and the Asian
Development Bank (FADE™) on 2 December 2016, which became clloclive on 29 April 2007 by
the Law No.87 of the Kyrpyz Republic — 31 July 2021;
—  Loan and Granl CAREC Cormriders 1 and 3 Connector Road Projoct, Phase 2- Additional
Tinancing Loan No 3730-KGA(COL)YGrant No 062 | -KGZ(5F) — 31 July 2027,

2. Significant acconnting policics
2.1, Busis for preparation of consolidated financinl statements

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Public
Sector Accounting Standards "Cash Accounling”, the requirements of the Asian Development Bank
"Financial Management and Project Analysis" and the relevant articles of the Financing Agreement Toan
Na.3432-KGZ (SF)Granl No. (496 dated Decernber 02, 2016, articles of the Loan Agreement Lozn No.
3730-KGACOT) and articles of the Grant Agreement (rant No.0621-KGZ(SF) signed boilween the
Government of the Kyrioys Republic and the ADB dalcd December 28, 201 8.

In accordance with the cash basis of accounting, all lunds, regardless of their source, which are on the
settlement account and are reflected in the statement as received, are considered 1o be income, Expenditures
are the funds [or payment for the works, goods and scrvices and which are reflected in the statement as paid.

The accounting policics have been applicd consistently within the whole period.
Hinancing

Financing from the Asian Development Bank’s funds is presented
= By the direct payment procedure  where the ADB, by the Organization’s request, pays directly o
the specilled Sopplicr,
= Pracedures of current expenses (und — ADB pays in advance funds from its Grant account on a
deposit, forming the account of current expenses, which is exclusively vsed for financing of the
ADB share of eligible expenses.
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conneclor Boad Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phasc 2- Additional Finaacing
Loan Ne.3730-KGZ(COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Noies to Consolidated Financial Statements
Ffor the vear ended 31 December 2020
{Amounts in tables below are presented in [ISD)

Financing through dircet payments is recognized in case of approval of the transaction and the payment to
a supplicr specilied by ADB.

Financing through the reimbursement {recovering) and a procedurs of current cxpenscs fund is recognized
at actual receipt of cash.

The amount of financing by the Government of the Kyrgys Republic is recognized as such and is included
in the financial statements il funds wore imnslemred to the Project current account (“"Government Financing
Account™).

Cither income and expenses

Income received as interests, acerued on the balance of cash assets in the local commercial banks, and sales
of tender documents are recopizcd as olher receipls of the Project. Commespondingly, the expenses on
printing the tender documents, advertising expenses, related to the tender procedures and a tax, deductod
by the commereial bank for the inlerest benefit in accordance with the tax legislation of the Kyrgyz Republic
are recognized as other expenses.

Expenses

The Project expenscs are rocognized as such and are included into the consolidated financial statements, if
payments for goods, works and/or services are made to suppliers.

Functional and presentalion curvency

The national currency of the Kyrgiyz Republic is Kyreys som (KGS). The presentation cotrency is the U5
Dollar (USD).

For the purpuse of preparation of the financial reporting in USD:

+ The expenses denominated in KGS are translated in US dollars using the following principles for
reflection of exchange curreney operations:

o Atthe receipt of financing from the Government of the KR in soms, the NBKR foreign currency
exchange rate is nsed as of the date of transaciion;

o When paying taxes on foreign organization’s income, received from the KR source, not
connected with the permanent institutian { 10%), the insuranee {oes for a foreign consullant and
ils solid parl at the rate of 3%, as well as incomes of local consultants and their relevant insurance
fees it is applied an exchange rate tixed by tho NBKR as of the date of paymont;

& Tor gl other cxpenscs, the mie comesponding to the latest exchange rale is rellected in the
accounling software "1-C Accounting” (the rate of a commercial bank or the rate of the NMational
Bank of the Kyrgyz Ropublic).

+ The balance of currenl accounls in nalivoal currency is recalculated al the lalest cxchange raic reflected
in the accounting sottware “1-C Accounting”™ (the rate of 8 commercial bank or the rate of the National
Bank ol the Kyrueyz Republic).
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors I and 3 Conpector Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ{SFy/Grant No.0496-KGZL(SF)

CARFC Carridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additionul Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZCOT.) T.oan No.0021-KGZL(SE)

Notes to Consolidated Finaneial Statemcnts
Tor the year ended 31 December 2020
{Amounts i lables below are presented in LS

Any pains or losses from monetary assets or liabilitics, expressed in foreign cumencies, arising due to
change of official exchange rate arc reeognized as gain or loss from the cxchange rate difference and
presented on a net basis in the Statement of Sourees and Uses of Fands.

22 Internal control system
Projects forecost

=  Actual implementation of the Project plan is conlrolled monthly and quarterly by submilling reports
tor the Government of KR, ADB is provided by reports at the beginning of cvery reporting vear and
aller every mission of the ADB;

¢ Tor efficient functioning of the process, the itformation on operating culeomces i3 timely
analyzed.

Lise of aocounting sofiware

The Investment Projecls Implementation Group (IP1G) uses the aulomated accounting software “1C:
“Ageounting”, which forms the necessary accounting buoks: a cashbook, a Special bank accounl in USD
and a transit account in KGS, as well as interest accounts, bank accounts [or the KR Government share of
proceeds.

An access to the accounting software is provided to the Dishursement Specialist (Officer) who has an
individual password 10 abtain the access to the system. The Disbursement Specialist (Officer) has [ull
access rights, including data input, review, adjustment and confirmation of processed transactions and
vonlrol over delcling data.

Cash

¢  Bank accounts reconciliations. ‘1'he balanees on accounts in accordance with the accounting records are
reconciled with the bank statements on a monthly basis.
s The loan account is regularly reconciled on dishursemaent based on statements [rom AT

Procurement ond uses of furds

Uscd [unds arc rocorded on appropriate accounts and only for the permitted purposes and according to the
Project budeet lines.
All expenses ars appraved by the 11PLG Direclor in accordance with contracts, inveices and regeipts.

The expenses in the accounting records are based on the following supporling documents:
. Invoice wilh the payment orders,
" Receipt to a credit slip about payment;

Check for goods bearing a stamp “paid in cash™,

" Cash check {when the wmount is approved by the IPIG Direclor).

When emplovees are on business trips, he Projects reimburse their expenscs, such as travel,
accommadation expenses (hotel expenses) and per diems in accordance with the standards established by

the Legislation of the Kyrgyz Republic.
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Projccts:

CAREC Caorridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Toan No3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.0496-KGZ(SFE)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phasc 2- Additional Financing
Loan No3730-KGZ(COL)Y/ Loan Nu.0621-KGZ(SF}

Notes to Consolidated Finaneial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Amounts in tables below are presented in USLEY

Salary

o  The Payment specialist maintains records of working hours, while the IP1G Director approves the
timesheets,

=  Accounting records are stored in separale files with an cstablished right of access.
All changes in salaries and pay rates are approved by the Ministry of Tramsport and Communications
of the Kyrgyz Republic, leader of the ADB IPIG and they are also agreed with the Ministry of Finance
of the Kyrgyz Republic.

Linbilities

The Payment Specialisl maintains the list of issued invoices payable with the payment date on every
contract,

3.  Correction of the previous period error

In 2020, the Organization made adjustments to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31,
20119 in connection with the clarification of the terms of payvment to the contractor "Todini Costruzioni
Gernerali S.p.A" - 40%; of the cost in TUS dollars, 60 in national currency (Kyrgyz soms) at a fixed rate
68.3203 Kyrgyz soms per US 1 dollar. The amount of the advance payment is not recalculated and is
recorded in US dollars.

The adjustments made to the consolidaled statement of sources and use of funds:

Current reporting
- As previously reparted Corrcction of error amopunts
From the From the
From the beginning heginning
beginning of of the of the
the Projects Projects Projects to
to X1 to 31 31
December December December
2019 2019 2019 201% 2019 2015
Projects activities :
1 Works
GER (223,435} (1,323,408) {4,872 {4,872y (228,307 (1,328,280}
(1,695,633)  (7,807,976) (4,872) (4,872) (1,700,505) (7,812.848)
Total Projects
eXPEnses: (3,720,843) (11,003,515) (4,872) (4,872) 3,725,715 11,008,387
oRR {440,284y {1,642 488) {4,872} {4,872y {445156) (1,647,361)
Exchange rate
difference gain/(lossy — (1,766) (5,579 4,872 4,872 3006 (707)
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project

Loan N0.3432-KGZ(SF/Grant No.0496-KGZ{5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Pliase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COLYLoan Ne.0621-KGZ(SH)

Nates ta Consolidated Financial Statcments
For the year econded 31 December H20
{ Amounts in tables below are presented in US[)

Adfustments made to the consolidated statement of financial position:

Correction of

Error Current
As previously (deercase)f reporting
reported increase amounts
31 December 31 December
e 2019 2019
Projects expenses 1,003,515 4,872 11,008,387
Exchange rate difference 5,579 (4,872) T

4. Taxation

The Projects Agreements do nol contain exceptions on (he 1ax payments and duties, except for the expense
item *Project Design Advance”. The Project is a VA'L paver. The VAT, paid to the supplicr for goods and
servicey, is included in the cost of purchase and correspondingly in Projects expenditures.

Payment of the tax on non-residents [rom the amount of services rendered by international consultants is
made from ADB funds (%0%) and co-financing from the GKHK share (10%), wilh the exeeption of an
international ¢onsultant, a road engineer, whose services are paid 100%% from ADB [unds, within the
framework of the CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Commeelor Road Projoct, Phase 2- Additional Financing Loan
MNa 3730-KGZ{COL)Y Loan No 062 1-KG2(5F).

The Projects are paid for with the remuneration of the national experis from the ADD funds (90%) and co-
financing rom the GKR sharc { [0%), which are recognized as the income of local hired cinployees, income
tax and contributions to the Social Fund of the Kyrueyz Republic in accordance with the legistation of the
Kyrgye Republic. Emiplovee benefits are paid minus tax and contributions,

The Projects makes social security contributions from the Emplover at the rate of 17.25% and pays them to
the Social Fund of the Kyrgyvz Bepublic, by the ©llowing calegorics:
- LComsuling services™ From the ADB funds (90%) and co-financing from the share of the GKR
(10%);
- “Praicet management™ from the ADD tends (100%).

Social sceurity foes arc deducted from the international individual consultants® fee and paid to the Pension
Fund at the rate of 3% fom the ADB [unds {90%) and co-financing from the share of the GEKR (10%) from
all types of payments for all the benefits accrued for the employees — forcign citizens or persons withoul
cilizenship, lemporarily residing in the Kyrayz Republic, who have tabor relations with a legal entity, with
the exception of an international consullant of a road cogincer, whose services are paid for 100% [rom AT
funds, within the ramework of the CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional
Financing Loan No.3730-KGZA{COL)YLoan No.0o2 |-KGZ (3T}

5. Cash

In order to make payments of Joan funds for elficient [nancing of costs, necessary for the Project
implementation, IPIG uscd the following special account:
— {CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Commector Road Project:
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Projecis:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Coanector Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.04%6-KGZ{SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing
Loan No3730-KGZ{COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(5F)

Notes t0 Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
{Amounts in tables below are presented in USD)

ADB special account (Grant No,0496-KGZ {SF) in US dollars No, 1180000092422315, opened at
the Branch of “DKIB-Gilavny™ CISC “Demir Kyrgyz International Bank™;
ADB transit account (Grant No.0496-K.GZ (SF} in US dollars No.1130000092422214, opened at
the Branch of “DKIB-Glavny” CISC “Demir Kyrgyz International Bank™;
Additional special account of the ADB (Grant No. 0496-KGZ (SFY in US dollars No.
11800001 13799091, opened in the branch "DKIB-Main" of CISC "Demir Kyrgyz International
Bank"*.
Additional ADB Transit Account {Grant No. M96-KGZ (SF) in Kyrgyz SOM No.
1180000113799192, openesd in the “DEIB-Main™ branch of “Demir Kyrgyz [ntemational Bank™
CISCH*,
GER special-purpose financing account in KGS No. 4402051101018792, opened with Leninsky
Regional Territory Management of the Ministry of Finance of the Kyrgyvz Republic:
GKR's interest account opened at the Branch of “DEIB-Glavny” CISC “Demir Kyrgyz
International Bank™:
o Inthe Kyrgyz soms No.1180000092423123;
o Inthe US dollars No.1180000092423224.
Tender account of the GKR opencd at the Branch of “DKIB-Glavny” CJ3C “Demir Kyrgyz
International Bank™:
o In the Kyrgyz soms No.11800000924224 16;
o Inthe US dollars No.1180000092422517.
CAREC Cerriders 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Finaneing;
— Special account ADB (Grant Ne0621-KGZ(SF)) in USD Nel29900422003308 with OJSC
“REK-Bank™;
—  Transit acconnt ADB (Grant Ne 0621-KGZ({8F)) in KGS Ne1299004220003106 with GJSC
“RSK-Bank™;
Special account of GKR financing (*Additional account™) in KGS Me 4402051101021321, with
opened in the Lenin Territorial Adminisiration of the Ministry of Finance of the Kyrgyz Republic;
— Interest account GKE with OJSC “RSK-Bank™
— In KGS Ne129900422003207;
— InUSD Nel129900422003409.

*Opening the additional (special and transit) accounts of the ADB (Grant No. 0496-KGZ (5F) was agreed
and approved by the Ministry of Finance of the Kyrgys Republic and the ADB, for the implementation of
works under the catogory "Resettlement costs”.

The cash balances cn the accounts at the end of the year are presented below:

] | 3
December December
2021 2019
ADEB funds:
CAREC Corridors I and 3 Connector Road Project
Special Account of Grant No.0496-KGZ 119,183 127,506
Additional Grant Special Account No.0496-KGZ ) 143,977 170874
225,160 298,380
CAREC Corridors I and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2-
Additional Finarcing
Special account of Grant 0621-KGZ{SF) 18760 -
19,766 -
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Projects:
CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Cennector Road Project
Loan No.3432-KGZ{5F)/Grant No.04%6—KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Roald Project, Phase 2- Addittonal Financing

Loan No.3730-KGZ{COL)Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
{Amounts in tables below are preseated in USD)

31 31
December December
2020 2019
Total ADB funds: 244,926 298,380
P'rojects’ other accounts:
Interest account 259 il
Tender aveouni &79 FER 5
Total viher funds of the Projects 1,138 15325
Total baluance of cush 246,064 313,905
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Projoects:
CAREC Corvidors 1 and 3 Connector Road Projeci
Loan No3432-KGZ(SFVGrant No.0496—KGZ(ST)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conneclor Roald Project, Phase 2- Additional Finuncing

Loan No.3730-KGZ{COL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ{SF)

Notcs to Consolidated Financial Statemenis
For the year ended 31 Decetnber 2020
{Amounts in tables below are presented in LISTY)

Replenishment of hasic special acconnt of Grant No, 0496-KGZ:

Date Amount
Initial advance
(8.08.2017 39,000
12.12.2017 30,000
Total for the period from May 23 to December 31, 2017 60,000
22.11.2019 90,000
Total for 201% 90,000
Total advance from the stare of the Profect to December 31, 20318 150,000
Reimbursement of eurrent expenses:
23.11.2017 19,469
Total for the period from May 23 o December 31, 2017 - 19,469
29.03.2018 32,679
01.06.2018 49,713
23082018 29,307
20.10.2018 3e.321
05.12.2018 30,539
Total for 2018 S 181,559
05.03.201% 43,394
22.05.2019 39,192
07.08.2019 37,524
17.10.2019 47,322
23.12.2019 51,940
_Total for 2019 224,372
03.04.2020 72,909
22072020 83,606
4.12.2020 80,309
Total for 2020 236,824
Total aidvance from the start of the Profect to December 31, 2020 . 662,224
Total replenishment of the acconnt from the beginning of the
Project to December 31, 2020 812,224

Replenishmeni of additional special account of Grant No, 0496-KGZ:

Date  Amount

TInitial advance

_Total advance

29.10.2019

170,874
170,874

Total replenishment of the account from the beginning of the Project

to December 31, 2020

170,874

The acenmulated replenishment of the special accounts of Grant No. 0496-KGZ reached USD 983,098,
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Projects;

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conncetor Roead I'roject

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.04%6-KGZL(8))

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additienal Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ(COL)YLoun No.0621-KGZ(5F)

Mites to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 Deceamber 2020
CAmounls m lables below are presented in LSLY)

Replenishment of additivnul special aceount of Grant No. 0621 -KGZ:

- Date  Amount
Initial advance
14.03 2020 50,000
Tolal advance - 50,000
Toial replenishment of the account from the beginning of the Project to 50,000

_December 31, 2021

Uze of the special accounts funds (Statement of Expenditure (SOE) under the CAREC Corridors 1 and

3 Connector Roud Project Loan No 3432-KGEA(SFYGrant N o 043K GA(SF):

A pplication number SOFE numhber Expense perind Amount of expenses
(M S0 08.08.17-19.10.17 19,469
00008 ~OE2 2001001 7-31.12.17 31,959
Total for the period from 23 May to 31 December 2017 51,428
n0a0E SO 2 OL.01.18-17.01.18 720
{0010 SOE 3 18.01.18-3004.18 49713
0014 KSOTE 4 0105, 18-10.07.13 20,307
oM 5 ROE S 17.07.18-01.10.18 30321
Quo19 SOEG 02.10.18-15.11.18 30,539
00023 50T 7 - 16.11.18-31.12.18 36,920
2018 total 186,529
{23 SOE 7 O1.000.19-05,02.19 11,465
00031 =OE & 06.02.19-24.04.19 39,192
0041 SOE 9 25,04, 19-258.06.10 37,524
noo49 SO0 [0 0107 190200 1% 47,322
{0086 S0OE 11 03.04,1v-29.11.19 31,940
(T3 S0 |2 30 NE 19311219 22,494
2019 total 200,937
00073 =OE 12 01.01.20-10.03.20 30,414
O00E2 SOE 13 11.03.20-15.06.20 83,0006
QG093 =ROE 14 16.06.20-30.10.20 ROL309
{0101 SOE 15 02.11.20-31.12.20 30818
2020 total 245,147

Total SOE from the beginning of the PProjeet to December 31, 202{

683,041

Payments were made from the special account in the category “Resettlement and seizure of land plats™ in the

amount of USD 64,897, on applicalion 99 for the liquidation of the advance, see Note 12.

The iotal expenses from the special account were:
—  USD 310,044 in 2020
— USD 757,938 from the beginning of the Projeet to December 31, 20201
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Conncctor Road Project

Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)Grant No.0496-KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase I- Additional Financing
Loan No.3730-KGZ{COL)Lovun Nu.0621-KGZ(SF)

Nutes to Consclidated Financial Statemconts
For the vear ended 31 December 2020
CAmounts in lables below ure presented in TUSD)

Use of the apecial acecunts funds (Stalement of Expeaditure (SOE) under the CAREC Corridors 1 and
3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing Loan No.3730-KGZ(COLYLoan Neo.N621-

KGZ(SF):

Application numbcr SOFE number Expcnsc period Ameunt of
EXPLOSEs
00006 SOE 1 4.0520-31.12.20 - 30,234
Toral for 2020 3234
Tolal SOE from the heginning of the Project to December 31, 2020 30,234

6. Financing

Fruom the beginning

2020 2019 of the Projecis 10 31
. December 2024
ADE funds:
ADE Loan No3432-KGZ{SF)
Direct payments 1,152,990 1,041,311 5,739,635
interest expenses 43,045 25,465 63,511
1,196,035 1,066,776 5808140
ADB Granit No.0496-KGZ(SF)
Tnitial advance - 170,874 200,874
Replenishment of advance - o, 000 120,000
Total advance - 260874 I20874
Replenishrment of special account 236,824 224,372 662,221
Direct payments 1,382,721 2,003,846 5,683,679
1,019,545 2,489,002 6,006,770
ADE Loean Ne3730-KGZ(COL)
Cirect payments 4,945,812 - 4,945,812
Intercst expenses 4,844 - 4,946
4,250,758 - 4,950,758
ADE Grant Ne(621-KGZ{S5F)
Dirct payments 50,000 - 50,00
Interest expenses 454,534 o - 454,534
504,534 - 504,534
Total ADB funds 8.270,873 3,555,868 17,930,215
KR funds:
Eeplenishment of current account 335301 335,301
Replenishment of current additional
aocount 161,571 442,050 1,809,638
Total GKIR funds 406,872 442,050 2,144,939
Total Projects’ financing 8,767,744 3,997,918 20,075,153
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Projecis:
CARFEC Corridors 1 and 3 Conneclor Boad Project
Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)(rant No.0496—KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors | and 3 Connector Road Projecl, Phase 2- Addilional Financing

Loan No 373K GZ{COL)/Loan No.21-KGZ(5T)

Nodes (0 Conzolidated Financial Staleraenis
For the yeur ended 31 December 2020
{Amounts In tables bolow are presented in TSI

7. Other {Expenses)Receipts

From the beginning

2020 2019 of the Projects to 31
December 2020
Tuterest aceount
Accrued interests 1,455 566 2,364
Bcturn of collateral on tenders and banking
fees {1,848} {68) (2,096)
Losses [rom cxchange rate diffcrencns (8} - (8)
Total (401} 498 260
Tender account
Receipl for tender documents - 1,255 16,003
Fxpenses related to condueting tender
procedures, bank services (143) (190} {(LB17)
[.osses from exchange rate differsnces (614} - (614)
Total (737) 1,065 14,172
Tolal Oiher (Expenses)/Receipis (1L158) 1,563 14,432
Including:
(Other {expenses)receipts (534} 1.563 15,054
Tixchango rate ditference {(gain)/loss {622) - (622}
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ{SF)/Grant No.0496—

KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Rozd Project, Phase 2- Additional Finaocing Loan No.3730-

KGZ({COLYLoan N0.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the vear ended 31 December 2020

(Amounts in tables below are presented in USD)

9, Budget performance

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project Loan No. 3432-KGE(S F)/ Grant No.MI6—R GZ(8F):

Ise of the Loan Me3432- KGE{S5Fy ADB:

Funds used from the
beginning of the Total Preject  Available Project funds
Item Project Budget _(budget- actual)
US dollars Yo US dollars US dollars )
Works 5,739,635 10.84% 52,932,803 47,193,168  89.16%
Interest expenses 68,511 3.25% 2,108,555 2,040,044 96.75%
_Unallocated expenses 0.00%% 3,313,156 3,313,156 100.00%
Total 5,808,146 9.62% 60,354,514 54,546,368  90.38%
Use of the Grapt Nul)496- KGZ{SF) ABP:
Total Available Project
[tem Funds used from the Project funds (budget-
beginning of the Project Budget _Aactual)
US dollars W US dollars TS dollars Yo
Works 2,383,333 11.52% 20,680,000 18,296,667 88.48%
Consulting services 2,606,661 46.55% 5,600,000 2,993,339 33.43%
Advance for preparation of
project design 1,097,168 65.41% 1.677,460 580,292 34.59%
dacumentation
Project management 289,621 13.41% 2,160,000 1,870,379  86.59%
Expenses of relocation 64,897  37.98% 170,874 05,977 62.02%
Unallocated expenses 0.00% 5,109,126 5109126  100.00%
Total 6,441,680 18.20% 35397460 28,955,780 81.80%
GEER co-financing share:
Funds used from the Total
Item beginning of the Project Available Project
Projeet Budget funds (hwdget- actual)
US dollars %a US dollars  US dollars %h
Works 1,423,442 9.02% 15,780,000 14,356,558  90.98%
Consulting services 257,795 37.91% 680,000 422205 &2.09%
Advance for preparation of project 137273 T3.65% 186,384 49,111 2635%
design documentation
Expenses of relocation 13,231 - (13,230% -
Expertize and approval of the project - (LO0% 440,000 440,000 100.00%
Unallocated expenses - 0.00% 2,060,000 2,660,000 100.00%
Total 1,831,739 9.57% 19,146,384 17,314,645  50,43%
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No.0496—
KGZ(SF)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing Loan No.3730-
KGZ(COL)/Loan No1621-KGZ{SF)

MNuotes to Consolidated TFinaneial Statements
For the year ended 31 Docember 20240
{ Amounts in tables below are presented in USD)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additional Financing Loan No.3730-
KGZICOL)/Loan No.0621-KGZ(SF):

Usc of the Loan Ne3T30- KGEL(SE) AbL:

Funds used from the

Tiem beginning of the Total Project  Available Project lunds
_ Project Budget (budget- actual)
B US dollars %o US dollars US dollars Yo
1. Civil works 4943812 9.24% 53,340,000 48 504 188 00.76%
Secrion 7 2788 643 91O 306560640 27,801,357 90.90%
Section 24 2,157,169 9.42% 22,890,804 20,732 831 90.58%
Consulting services 0.00"% La70,000 1a70,000 100.00%
[nterast expenses 4046 0.05% 3,500,000 3405 054 00,038,
Unaltoeated expenses (004G 0,700, 000 0.700,000 100,00%
"Total 4,950,758  7.23% 8. 300,00 63,549242 ¥1.77%
Use of the Grant Ne §21- KGZ(SF) ALP:
Tiem Total Awailable Project
Funds used [rom ihe Project funds {budget-
beginning of the Project Budget actual)
U5 dollars %o US dollars  US dollurs Va
{ nnsulting services 399,425 5.58% 7,160,000 6,760,575 94.43%
Projeet management #5342 T.11% 1,200,000 1114658 921.39%
txpenses of relocation 0 0.00% H.0G00 TO000  100.00%
Unallocated cxpenses 4] AR 1070, 000 LOT0,000 100000
Tatal 484,767 S10% 9,300,000 9015233 94.90%
GER co-financing share:
Item Funds vsed from the Total
beginning of the Project Available Project
Projcet Budget funds (budget- actual)
U5 dollars B LS dollars U5 dollars “h
1. Civil works 334,065 2.85% TL7A0.000 11,405,935 G7.15%
Section 1 36,071 4,55% &, 720, (00 6,413,929 05.45%
Section 24 27994 0.58% S020.000 4092006 99.44%
Consulling services 0 0008 200,000 990,000 100.00%
Expenses of relocatiom ¢ 0.00% 20,000 20,000 100.00%
Tailal A3,mh5 2.462% 12,750,000 12 413,933 07.38%
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Projecis:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Cennector Road Project Loun No.3432-KGZ(SF)/Grant No. (496
KGZ({5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, 'hase 2- Additiona] Finuncing Loan No.3730-
KGZ(COLYLoan No.0621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
[or the year ended 31 December 2021
{Amounts in tables below are presented in USDH)

10, Linbilitics

Ag of 31 December 2020, the Projects had the following overduc labilities for the share of co-financing of the
Projects by the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic on issued invoices and paymont cortilicates:

CAREC Corridors I und 3 Connector Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ{SF)/Grant No.049%6-KGZ(SF):

Intermediate Unpaid 1I*C
Contractor Category Works period ﬂggaTezn{t]PC} ebligations
TsD
Ne Dty
Works =—
‘October 2019 -
*“Todini Costruzioni W May 2020 4 22.06.20 166.070
- . - orks ) *
(Gienarali 8.p.A Tune 2020- August
N B o 2020 3 30.09.20 256,508
Sub-total 423,068
“Worls™ total: 423,068
Consulting services
“Genlek Supervision of August 2020 24 12.09.20 4,459
[nternational o P 1Ly Scplember 2020 25 05.10.20 4,120
Enginecring and Lﬂm.lru;tmn October 2020 26 09.11.20 5,475
Consulting Timited™ ok Mervemboer 2020 27 03.12.20 4063
Toted 19,017
June 2020 42 24.08.20 2,458
“Finnroad Ltc.” in July 2020 43 24.08.20 2,462
association with LLC May-June-fuly
companies “RAM 2020 44 24.08.2() 174G
Engineoting RAMS August 2020 45 18.09.20 1,758
Associates” and Sepromber 20240 46 12 120 1.315
“Destia Tntemational Oretober 20240 47 23.11.20 1,500
1id.” August-
Seplember-
October 2020 48 23.11.24) 1,211
Tatal 0,884
HLE Marka Audit
in association with Auditing Anditing scrvices
AMH Audit services in 2019 L14 29.06.20 - 1,112
Toral £,1f2
Institutional November 2020
Advisory Group Strangtheoing . wite  03.12.20 .
_ _Advisory Group Bisecmits 2080 wiNo  28.12.20 477
Total - _ 672
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Projects:

CARFEC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ(SFYGrant No.049%6—

KGZ(SH)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Additionul Finaocing Loan No.3730-

KGZ{COL)/Loan No.621-KGZ(SF)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Amounts in tables helow are presented in USDY

Total for the category "Consulting services™: 31,687
Category " Advance payment for the preparation of design and estimate documentation®
“lapan Crverscas Advance
Conrsuitants Co. payment for the
I.td.” in associalion preparation of
with [} design and
"Kyrgyzdorirans- gstimate February 2020
project” documentation {Final} 2 13.08.20 F,717
Tofal 10,717
Sub-total under "Advance payment for the preparation of design and estimate

_docomentation''; 10,717
Total liabilities for the shure of co-tinancing of the Government of the Kyreye -
Republic under the CAREC Corriders 1 and 3 Connector Road Project: 465472

CAREC Coreidors 1 and 3 Connector Road Praject, Phase 2- Addivionad Financing FLoan No 3730

KGZ{CO ) L oan No 621-KGZ{SF}:

lntecrmediate
. N \ Pavmeni Unpaid 1'C and
Contractor Category Works period Certificates (IC)  invoice phligations
# Datc
“Works™ catcgory
“F¥ Sinohydro i
Corporation LTD - advance paﬁmult
i ) 5

Power China Road Waorks (1 manche) ] HES 208,768
Bridae Group Co, advance payment
LTD™ (2 tranche) 2 23.11.20 342,833
Tatal EAY RN
Total for the category "Works'": 751,601
Category "Consulling services"
Rouglhton . .
TemaLion: Supervision of
Tnternational e
Limited CORSIUELON advance payment 1 17.08.20 44,381
Totul 44 381
Total ¢commitments [or (he share of co-financing of the Government of the
Kyrgve lepublic under the CAREC Corrvidors 1 and 3 Conmector Road
Project, Phase 2- Additivoal Financing: 705,082

As ol 31 December 2020 tolal overduc liabilities for the Projects on the share of co-financing of the

CGovernmen( of the Kyrgye Bepublic amouneed to 1,261 454 1S dellars.

11. Contingencies

Litigation
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Prujocts:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ{SF)/Grant No.0496—
KGEA(ST}

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project, Phase 2- Addilional Financing Loan No3730-
KGZ{COL)Loan No,0621-KGZ(SF)

MNates to Congolidated Firancial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024
{ Amounts in tables below are presented in USDY

After the enlry into furce of the court's verdict in a criminal case in accordance with the articles of the Criminal
Code of the Kyrgyz Republic on abese of official position and bribery, negotialions were held on the fact of
the Cantracior's corTupt activities in relation to ihe contractor "Lodini Contruzioni Generali 9.p.A" (hereinafter
referred to as the "Contractor} of the MTC KR of the Kyrgyz Republic, as the Customer of the Projects. On
November 10, 2020, the ADB granted approval o the MTC KR of the Kyrgyz Republic 1o usc the right o
terminate the Contract with the Contraclor. The notice of termination of the contract entered into force on

Diecember L, 2020,

The Contraclor appealed to the MTC KR of the Kyrgye Republic with a proposal to conclude a Settlement
agreement and to extend the procedure for repayment of the advance amount in the amount of USD
6,112,645.71 unlil the end of December 2021, The Cuslomer, by letter No. 14-9/218 dated February 1, 2021,
refused the offer to sign a Sctilemeni agreement, due to the tact that the Contructor's position in this matter is
unacceptable for the Customer, since:

- the Contractor has not fulfiiled its obligations under the Contract in full. The Conlract performance”
Guaranice cannot be retimed to the Contractor until all the amounts of mutual settlements between
the Customer and the Comractor are clarified and agreed upon, which is possible only by July 2021,
when it is plauned (0 complete the tender procedure for sclecling a new contractor and calcuiate all
the costs of the Customer from the delay in completion of construction:

—  despite the wesk posilion of the Contractor in terms of legal proceedings, the Conlractor may initiate
legal proceedings on certain issucs of the contract tenms. In particular, there is currently a significant
delay on the part al the Customer in paying the share of so-financing ol the Governmend ol the Kyreve
Eepublic in the amount of 178D 423,068 (inore than six months) and the Contractor is entitfled 10
eompengation for losses from the delay in payiment, These Tosses will be taken mto accounl in mutual
setllements when preparing the final certificate for the Contractor. At the same time, accarding 1o
prefintinary cstitates, the Customer's insses from carly teemination of the contract with the Contractor
are sigmificantly higher than the Contractor's possible claims. The final amount of the Customer's
losses will be determined presumably in July 2021 and bused on Lhe results of this assessment, the
Customer will file claims ta the Contracior for compensation for losses.

On the part of the MTC KR of the Kyrgyz Republic, in March 2021, a lelter was sent to QJSC “Muganbank™
aboui the immediate payment of the foll atmount of the bank guarantes for an advanee for No. 2204 daled
September 19, 2018 in the amount of 6,112,645.71 LS dollars, valid until Augusi 22, 2021, However, on May
6. 202 [, MTC KR received a letter trom OJSC "Muganbank" No. N/ 17-3131 dated 040452021, in which the
Bank informs that on the basis of the Decision of the Karimanoy District Court of Bakuy, the Bank cannot [ul[il}
the requirement of M1 KR to recover 2 bank goarantos and refimd the amount of the advance payment. Due
1o the fact that the Bank received a notilication from the Nadmanoy District Cowt of Baku that the Contractor
filed a lawsuit (o invalidute the [etrer "Guearantee of Advance Payment” dated Seplember 19, 2018 Na, 2201
and the leller "Guarantee of Performance™ dated Seplember 19, 2018 No. 2204, issued by OJSC "Muganbank”
in favor of MTIK KR. In addniom, the Contractor filed an application with the court on the measure of sccurmg
the ¢laim in this case. January 27, 2021 Narimanov DHsizict Courl of Buku granted the plamtiff's application
and adopted a ruling that, unfil the [inal judicial act on this civil case is adopted. the defendant should be
prohibiled [rom performing any actions on ¢xeculion (payment of the guarantee amount, etc.) of letter No.
2204 of September 19, 2018 "Guaranlee of payment of the advance” and letter "Guaranice of Exceution” No,
2205 of Seplember 19, 2018, issued in favor of the Ministry of Transport and Comununications of the Kyrayz
Repuhlic. According 10 the results of the meeting in Bishkck of the Customer wilh a representative of 1SC
"Muganbank", a confirmation letter was senl o the address of the MTC KR of the Kyrgyz Republic, for
payment in full o obligations under the issued gnarantes No. 2204 dated Seplember 19, 2018, after the Final
Certilicale of completed works is provided,

At the same time, MTC KR was not notified that there are cowt cases an this ¢ivil case. The Conlraclor tukes
aclions (o delay this process.
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Projects:

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Project Loan No.3432-KGZ{S5F)/Grant No.0496—
KGZ(5F)

CAREC Corridors 1 and 3 Connector Road Projeci, Phase 2, Additional Financing Loan No.3730-
KGZCOL) Loan Nod621-KGZ{5F)

Atatement af Financial Position
A5 of 51 December 2020
fAmeunts in tables below are shown in TISEY)

12. Evcents after reporting date
(i Application for lguidation of the advance payment

The Organization has completed the resettlement work within the framework of the Financing Agresment of
Lhis Project.

On May 19, 2021, the ADB perlmmed the procedure for liguidation of the advance payment under application
No. 99 concerning the CAREC Corridors | and 3 Connceior Road Project Loun No.3432-KGZ(SF)Grant
NoM—KOZ(ET) tor the cxpenses of the "Resettlement”™ category:

Application # Paymeni period usnD
0nN09% 01.02.20-31.12.20 64,897
202U total ) 64,897

The Organization compleies the work on resettlement, within the framewark of the Financing Agreement for
this I'roject.

(i} The sitwation with the contracior ""Todini Contrazioni Generali 8.p. A" as of the report date signing

In Jamgary 2021, the original documents seized by the law enforcement agencies of the Kyrgyz Republic,
indicating the preparation, conduet and results of the tender for the implementation of roud construction works
far the CAREC Corridors [ and 3 Connector Road Froject Loan Mo 3432-KGZ(5F Wirant Ne. 0496—KOZ2{5T),
were returned tor further work on the demand for a bank guarunlee in comection wilh the emmination of 1he
contract with the contractor "l'odini Contruzioni Generall 5. p.A" on the hasis of an effective sentence on abuse
official pasition and a bribe, The deadling for reviewing the decision on the criminal case by way of cassalion
appeal expired in October 2020, As of the date of approval of the report, the Project carried out procedures for
selecting a new contractor for road construction work. The deadlines for the planned road construction works,
respeciively, have been postponed for the period of completion of the selection and conclusion of a contract
with a new contractor, on the basis of which the Organization has prepared and senl a letier (o the Ministry of
Feonomy and Finance ol the Kyreyz Republic, extending the deadline for closing the Project until December
31, 2026.

In March 2021, the Praject applied to JSC "Muganbank" {Azcrbajjan}, the bank ithal issued an unconditional
bank guarantee to secute advance payments to the contractor of the CAREC Contdors T and 3 Connector Road
Project Losn No.3432-KG2(SF)Grant No.0496-KGZ{5F) — "Todini Contrazioni Generali 5. p A" with a letter
on fransferring the bank guaranice g the amounl of USD 6,112,645.71 to the accounts of the Ministry of
Transporl and Communications of the Kyrgyz Republic (see Note 11} As of the date of completion of the
audit, the amounts of the bank guaranice have not been transferred, the Project is taking measures (o claim the
bank guarantes for an advance.

Alter the reporting date and before the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, with the
exception of the information indicaled above, no evenls oceurred that would alfect the disclosures in ihe
presenled consolidated financial statements.
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_f'-’ — i : .I'I I.
N.B. Kaiynbaev 8.K. lbraimov
Deputy Minister of MTC KR Diirector of ATME TPIG
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